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Explanatory Note

This report combines the Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 of Healthcare Trust of
America, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and Healthcare Trust of America Holdings, LP, a Delaware limited

partnership. Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context requires otherwise, all references in this report to “we,” “us,
“our,” “the Company” or “our Company” refer to Healthcare Trust of America, Inc. and Healthcare Trust of America

EX]

our,
Holdings, LP, collectively.

Healthcare Trust of America, Inc. (“HTA”) operates as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, and is the general partner
of Healthcare Trust of America Holdings, LP (“HTALP”). As of December 31, 2013, HTA owned a 98.94% partnership
interest in HTALP, and other limited partners, including some of HTA’s directors, executive officers and their
affiliates, owned the remaining partnership interest (including the long term incentive plan, or LTIP, units) in HTALP.
As the sole general partner of HTALP, HTA has the full, exclusive and complete responsibility for HTALP’s
day-to-day management and control, including its compliance with Securities and Exchange Commission filing
requirements.

We believe it is important to understand the few differences between HTA and HTALP in the context of how we
operate as an integrated consolidated company. HTA operates in an umbrella partnership REIT structure in which
HTALP and its subsidiaries hold substantially all of the assets. HTA’s only material asset is its ownership of
partnership interests of HTALP. As a result, HTA does not conduct business itself, other than acting as the sole

general partner of HTALP, issuing public equity from time to time and guaranteeing certain debts of HTALP. HTALP
conducts the operations of the business and has no publicly traded equity. Except for net proceeds from public equity
issuances by HTA, which are generally contributed to HTALP in exchange for partnership units, HTALP generates

the capital required through its operations, and by direct or indirect incurrence of indebtedness or through the issuance
of partnership units.

Redeemable noncontrolling interests of limited partners, stockholders’ equity and partners’ capital are the primary areas
of difference between the consolidated financial statements of HTA and HTALP. Limited partner units in HTALP are
accounted for as partners’ capital in HTALP’s consolidated balance sheets and as noncontrolling interest reflected
within equity or redeemable noncontrolling interest of limited partners reflected outside of equity in HTA’s
consolidated balance sheets. The differences between HTA’s stockholders’ equity and HTALP’s partners’ capital is due
to the differences in the equity issued by HTA and HTALP, respectively.

The Company believes combining the Annual Reports on Form 10-K of HTA and HTALP, including the notes to the
consolidated financial statements, into this single report results in the following benefits:

enhances stockholders’ understanding of HTA and HTALP by enabling stockholders to view the business as a whole

in the same manner that management views and operates the business;

eliminates duplicative disclosure and provides a more streamlined and readable presentation since a substantial

portion of the disclosure in this report applies to both HTA and HTALP; and

ereates time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of a single combined report instead of two separate reports.

In order to highlight the material differences between HTA and HTALP, this report includes sections that separately
present and discuss areas that are materially different between HTA and HTALP, including:

the market for registrant’s common equity, related stockholder matters and issuer purchase of equity securities in Item
5 of this report;

the selected financial data in Item 6 of this report;

the funds from operations and normalized funds from operations in Item 7 of this report;

the controls and procedures in Item 9A of this report;

the consolidated financial statements in Item 15 of this report;

certain accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements, including Note 3 - Business Combinations, Note
41 - Stockholders’ Equity and Partners’ Capital, Note 13 - Per Share Data of HTA, Note 14 - Per Unit Data of HTALP,
Note 18 - Selected Quarterly Financial Data of HTA and Note 19 - Selected Quarterly Financial Data of HTALP;

the certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer included as Exhibits 31 and 32 to this
report; and

the statement regarding the computation of the ratio of earnings to fixed charged included as Exhibit 12.1 to this

report.



Edgar Filing: HEALTHCARE TRUST OF AMERICA, INC. - Form 10-K

In the sections of this report that combine disclosure for HTA and HTALP, this report refers to actions or holdings as
being actions or holdings of the Company. Although HTALP (directly or indirectly through one of its subsidiaries) is
generally the entity that enters into contracts, holds assets, and issues or incurs debt, management believes this
presentation is appropriate for the reasons set forth above and because the business of the Company is a single
integrated enterprise operated through HTALP.
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PART 1

Item 1. Business

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Healthcare Trust of America, Inc. (“HTA”), a Maryland corporation, and Healthcare Trust of America Holdings, LP
(“HTALP”), a Delaware limited partnership, were incorporated or formed, as applicable, on April 20, 2006.

HTA is a real estate investment trust, or REIT, and one of the largest dedicated owners and operators of medical office
buildings in the United States. Our primary objective is to generate stockholder value through consistent and growing
dividends and appreciation of real property value. The Company has invested approximately $3.0 billion to form a
portfolio of predominately medical office buildings located in core, critical locations in key markets throughout the
United States that we believe are positioned to provide healthcare services over the long term.

We invest in medical office buildings because we believe they provide stable cash flows with relatively low vacancy
risk, while still allowing for potentially higher returns through their exposure to the fast growing healthcare sector.
Healthcare is the fastest growing segment of the U.S. economy with expenditures expected to grow 5.9% per annum
and account for 19.2% of gross domestic product, or GDP, by 2020 according to the U.S. Centers for Medicare &
Medicaid Services. Similarly, healthcare is experiencing the fastest employment growth in the U.S., a trend that is
expected to continue through 2020. These high levels of demand are driven by the aging of the U.S. population and
the long term impact of the Affordable Care Act. As importantly, these healthcare services are increasingly being
provided in the lower cost and more convenient outpatient settings such as medical office buildings.

As of December 31, 2013, our portfolio consisted of 14.1 million square feet of gross leasable area, or GLA.
Approximately 96% of our portfolio is located on the campuses of or affiliated with nationally or regionally
recognized healthcare systems. We believe these key locations and affiliations create significant demand from
healthcare related tenants for our properties. Further, the portfolio is primarily concentrated within major

U.S. metropolitan areas that we believe will grow economically and demographically over the coming years.

Our principal executive offices are located at 16435 North Scottsdale Road, Suite 320, Scottsdale, AZ 85254 and our
telephone number is (480) 998-3478. We maintain a web site at www.htareit.com at which you may find additional
information about us. The contents of that site are not incorporated by reference in, or otherwise a part of this filing.
We make our periodic and current reports, as well as any amendments to such reports, available at www.htareit.com
as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials are electronically filed with the Securities Exchange
Commission, or the SEC. They are also available in hard copy to any stockholder upon request.

HIGHLIGHTS

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we acquired $397.8 million of high quality medical office
buildings, representing an expansion of almost 15% by investment, based on purchase price. These
acquisitions totaled approximately 1.5 million square feet of GLA. These properties are located in the key
markets of Dallas, Denver, Miami, Tampa and West Palm Beach.

In 2013, we consistently achieved Same-Property Adjusted NOI growth of 3% or more each

quarter.

In December 2013, our credit rating was upgraded which decreased the interest rate on our variable rate term
loans and revolving credit facility. Taking into account the January 2014 amendment to the unsecured credit
agreement, the total interest expense savings based on the current outstanding balances on these facilities is
expected to be approximately $2.5 million in 2014.

During 2013, HTA generated returns that exceeded the SNL US REIT Healthcare Index by approximately 1,100 basis
points and the MSCI US REIT (RMS) Index by approximately 230 basis points.

During 2013, we declared cash dividends of $0.575 per share that were paid to stockholders in equal quarterly
installments.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, HTA issued and sold approximately 21.9 million shares of Class A
common stock at an average price of $11.22 per share under HTA’s equity at-the-market, or ATM, program.

{n March 2013, we issued and sold $300.0 million of 10-year unsecured senior notes at a rate of 3.70% per annum.
.In November 2013, the last of HTA’s shares of Class B common stock converted to shares of Class A common stock,
providing full liquidity to all of our stockholders.
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As of December 31, 2013, we had a strong and flexible balance sheet with total liquidity of $613.1 million, including
cash and cash equivalents of $18.1 million and $595.0 million available on our unsecured revolving credit facility.

Our leverage ratio of total debt to total capitalization was 34.0%.
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The occupancy rate on our portfolio increased 50 basis points during the year, ending at approximately 91.6% as of
December 31, 2013. This included month-to-month leases and leases that have been executed, but which have not yet
commenced.

In 2013, we consistently achieved tenant retention of 82% or more each quarter, and tenant retention for the year of
85%.

BUSINESS STRATEGIES

Corporate Strategies

Invest in and maintain a portfolio of properties that are well positioned for the long term future of healthcare delivery
The Company is focused on building and maintaining a portfolio of primarily medical office buildings that allow for
the efficient delivery of healthcare over the long term. We believe that properties that are well located and efficient
should increase in value over the long term. To date, we have invested over $3.0 billion to create one of the largest
portfolios of healthcare real estate focused on the medical office building sector in the United States. As a result, we
look to allocate capital to properties that exhibit the following key attributes:

Located on the campuses of or affiliated with leading healthcare systems in the United States. We seek to invest with
healthcare systems with dominant market share, high credit quality and those who are investing capital into their
campuses. We believe our affiliations with these health systems help ensure long term tenant demand. At December
31, 2013, approximately 96% of our portfolio was located on-campus or affiliated with these health systems.

In attractive markets. We seek to own MOBs in high-growth primary and secondary markets with attractive
demographics and favorable regulatory environments in business-friendly states or those with high barriers to entry,
especially those in which we can achieve operational and leasing efficiency. At December 31, 2013, over 50% of our
GLA was located in 12 key markets throughout the U.S.

Well occupied with limited near term leasing risks. We have elected not to have an active development platform. As a
result, we seek to invest in and maintain well occupied properties that benefit from existing demand. We believe this
positions us for long term value as hospitals and physicians are reluctant to move or relocate, as evidenced by our
2013 retention rate of 85%.

Occupied by credit-worthy tenants. Our primary tenants are the healthcare systems which maintain credit ratings with
national rating agencies. At December 31, 2013, approximately 56% of our annual base rent comes from credit-rated
tenants. A significant amount of our remaining rent comes from physicians and physician groups that are
credit-worthy but do not have the size to benefit from a credit rating. We believe this helps ensure the stability of our
rental income, and that we are invested in buildings that are attractive to the long term providers of healthcare.
Provide balanced mix of tenants. We actively invest in both multi-tenant properties, which have shorter leases on
smaller spaces, and single-tenant properties, which have longer term leases. The multi-tenanted buildings provide for
tower lease rollover risks in any particular year and regularly allow for rents to be re-set to current market rates. We
believe single tenanted buildings provide for steady long term cash flow, but generally provide for more limited long
term growth.

Maximize Internal Growth through Proactive Asset Management, Leasing and Property Management Oversight

Our internal asset management team operates approximately 85% of our total portfolio, a significant increase from
approximately 70% a year ago. We believe this direct approach allows us to maximize our internal growth by
improving occupancy, optimizing rental rates, and improving operating efficiencies at our properties. Specific
components of our overall strategy include:

Maintaining regional offices in markets where we have a significant presence, which enables our in-house property
management and leasing platform to (i) create closer relationships with national and regional healthcare systems and
other tenants, and (ii) better respond to their needs. Our regional offices are located in Albany, Atlanta, Boston,
Charleston, Dallas, Indianapolis, Pittsburgh and Scottsdale.

Increasing our average rental rates, maintaining or increasing renewal rates and actively leasing our vacant space,
which contributed to our 3% or more Same-Property Adjusted NOI growth each quarter during 2013.

Improving the quality of service provided to our tenants by being attentive to their needs, managing expenses, and
strategically investing capital. During 2013, we consistently achieved tenant retention of 82% or more each quarter,
and tenant retention for the year of 85%.
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Maintaining the high quality of our properties and building our reputation as a desirable and recognized landlord.
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Using market knowledge and economies of scale to seek to continually reduce our operating costs.

Achieve External Growth through Targeted Acquisitions

We plan to grow externally through targeted acquisitions that improve the quality of our portfolio and are accretive to
our cost of capital. To achieve this growth in competitive markets, we seek:

Mid-sized acquisitions in the $25 million to $75 million range. These transactions tend to be less competitive than
larger transactions, but also allow us to exhibit meaningful growth given our current mid-market size.

Long term relationships with key industry participants. We plan to continue to emphasize building long-term
relationships, cultivated by our senior management team, with key industry participants, including health systems and
local and regional developers, which have traditionally provided us with valuable sources of potential investment
opportunities. In this regard, approximately 73% of our acquisitions since January 2009, based on purchase price,
were either sourced directly from hospitals and developers or were not marketed for sale.

Local knowledge through our internal asset management platform. Our local personnel are able to stay in touch with
local industry activities which can provide insightful information on potential opportunities.

Actively Maintain Strong, Flexible Capital Structure and Balance Sheet

We seek to actively manage our balance sheet to maintain our investment grade credit rating, to maintain conservative
leverage, and to preserve financing flexibility. This positioning will allow us to take advantage of strategic investment
opportunities. We have access to multiple forms of capital, including public debt and equity, unsecured bank loans
and secured property-level debt. In addition, we may also pursue dispositions of properties that we believe no longer
align with our strategic objectives in order to redeploy capital. The strength of our balance sheet is demonstrated by
our investment grade credit ratings, which we first received in July 2011 and which was most recently upgraded in
December 2013. To maintain our strong and flexible balance sheet, we:

Continue to maintain high liquidity primarily through our unsecured revolving credit facility. During 2013, we
increased our unsecured revolving credit facility to $650.0 million, of which $595.0 million was available as of
December 31, 2013.

Limit the amount of secured debt. During 2013, the percentage of secured debt, including net premiums to total
capitalization decreased to 11.4% from 16.1% in 2012.

Maintain a low leverage ratio. Our leverage ratio of total debt to total capitalization was 34.0% as of December 31,
2013.

Maintain well laddered debt maturities. As of December 31, 2013, we had $7.7 million, $74.0 million and $477.5
million of debt principal payments due in 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively. After refinancing our $300.0 million
term loan in January 2014, our principal payments due in 2016 was reduced to $177.5 million. During 2013, we
increased the weighted average remaining term of our debt portfolio to 5.2 years, including extension options.
HEALTHCARE INDUSTRY

Healthcare Sector Growth

We operate in the healthcare industry because we believe this sector is benefiting from several macroeconomic events,
including the Affordable Care Act, aging population, increases in healthcare employment, and increased healthcare
spending.

The Affordable Care Act is a broad-based initiative that has the potential to expand health insurance coverage for
many Americans, further increasing the number of people who are able to utilize medical services. The Congressional
Budget Office estimates an additional 25 million individuals will gain access to insurance coverage by 2016 as a result
of this reform. The Affordable Care Act’s focus on preventative care is expected to increase the utilization of
outpatient care into the future.

6
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Source: Congressional Budget Office and Rosen Consulting Group.

Advancements in medical technology and changes in treatment methods have enabled people to live longer and
has resulted in a growing elderly population. Between 2010 and 2050, the U.S. population over 65 years of age is
projected to more than double from 40.4 million to nearly 83.7 million people. The number of persons older than 65
years of age was estimated to comprise 13.1% of the total U.S. population in 2010 and is projected to grow to 20.9%
by 2050. According to the 2012 Consumer Expenditure Survey, persons between 65 and 74 years of age spent the
highest amount annually for healthcare with more than $5,200 in annual personal expenditures including health
insurance premiums. Those persons more than 75 years of age followed closely with nearly $4,900 spent on
healthcare per year. In contrast, persons less than 25 years of age spent approximately $1,000 per year on healthcare.
The older population group will increasingly require treatment and management of chronic and acute health ailments.
We believe that there will likely be a focus on lower cost outpatient care to support the aging U.S. population, which
will continue to support medical office building demand in the long term.

Source: U.S. Census Bureau and Rosen Consulting Group.

7

11



Edgar Filing: HEALTHCARE TRUST OF AMERICA, INC. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents

Employment in the healthcare industry has steadily increased for at least 20 years despite three recessions.
Healthcare-related jobs are among the fastest growing occupations, projected to increase 22% between 2012 and 2022,
significantly higher than the general U.S. employment growth of 10.8% according to the Bureau of Labor Statistics.
Additionally, healthcare related jobs are projected to account for eleven of the twenty fastest growing occupations.
These occupations are estimated to grow by between 36% and 48% between 2012 and 2022, according to the most
recent Bureau of Labor Statistics projections. Additionally, the Bureau of Labor Statistics projects seven out of the top
twelve occupations with the highest demand for workers will be in the healthcare sector. We expect the increased
growth in the healthcare industry will correspond with a growth in demand for medical office buildings and other
facilities that serve the healthcare industry.

Source: Bureau of Labor Statistics and Rosen Consulting Group.

According to the latest data from 2012, Americas spent nearly $2.8 trillion, or 17.2% of total GDP, on healthcare
expenditures, an increase of 3.7% from the previous year. The U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services project
that the total healthcare expenditures will reach approximately $5.0 trillion by 2022. Healthcare expenditures are
projected to grow by 5.9% annually through 2022 and account for 19.2% of GDP by 2020. With healthcare costs
remaining high, we believe insurance providers will encourage patients to transition to cost efficient, outpatient
settings.

Source: U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services and Rosen Consulting Group.
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Medical Office Building Supply and Demand

We invest primarily in medical office buildings. We believe that healthcare-related real estate rents and valuations are
less susceptible to changes in the general economy than general commercial real estate due to demographic trends and
the resistance of rising healthcare expenditures to economic downturns. For this reason, we believe medical office
building investments could potentially offer a more stable return to investors compared to other types of real estate
investments. We believe that demand for medical office buildings will increase due to a number of factors, including:
Evolution in the healthcare industry is a contributing factor, with procedures that have traditionally been performed in
hospitals, such as surgery, moving to outpatient facilities as a result of shifting consumer preferences, limited space in
hospitals, and lower costs. In addition, increased specialization within the medical field is driving the demand for
medical office buildings suited specifically toward a particular specialty. Finally, some hospital systems have begun
divesting their real estate holdings in order to better focus on the delivery of care.

An increase in medical office visits due to the overall rise in healthcare utilization has in turn driven hiring within the
healthcare sector. This has increased the need for expansion of medical office facilities. Additionally, the increased
dissemination of health research through media outlets, marketing of healthcare products, and availability of advanced
screening techniques and medical procedures have contributed to a more engaged population of healthcare users. This
has created a surge in demand for customized facilities providing specialized, preventive, and integrative medicine.
Additionally, the rate of employment growth in physicians’ offices and outpatient care facilities has outpaced
employment growth in hospitals during the past decade, further supporting the trend of increased utilization of
healthcare services outside of the hospital. These factors, in combination with changing consumer preferences and
limitations on hospital expansion, have resulted in the increased utilization of medical office space, a trend which is
expected to continue over the long term. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics, employment in physicians’
offices is expected to increase by a cumulative 38.4% from 2012 to 2020, as compared with a projected 21.5%
increase in all healthcare professions and a forecasted increase of 10.8% in total employment during this time.
Advances in medical technology will continue to enable healthcare providers to identify and treat once fatal
ailments and will improve the survival rate of critically ill and injured patients who will require continuing
medical care. Along with these technical innovations, the U.S. population is growing older and living longer.
In addition, according to the Census Bureau, from 1980 to 2012, the average life expectancy at birth increased
from 74 years to 78 years. By 2020, the average life expectancy is projected to increase to 80 years, according
to the U.S. Census Bureau.

Construction of medical office buildings has been relatively constrained with little developable land and high-cost
barriers to development.

Strong rent growth is forecasted as market conditions tighten due to limited development, a decline in vacancy rates,
growth in healthcare employment, and a larger number of baby boomers entering retirement age. Beginning in 2013,
rent growth for medical office buildings is expected to outpace rent growth for traditional office properties as
healthcare employment increases at a faster pace than employment in traditional office-using industries.

Source: U.S. Census Bureau (as of Q3 2013) and Rosen Consulting Group.

PORTFOLIO OF PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2013, our portfolio consisted of 269 medical office buildings and 19 other facilities that serve the
healthcare industry, as well as real estate notes receivable secured by medical office buildings. Our portfolio is
comprised of approximately 14.1 million square feet of GLA, with an occupancy rate of approximately 91.6%,
including month-to-month leases and leases we have executed, but which have not yet commenced.
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Our properties are primarily located on-campus or aligned with nationally and regionally recognized healthcare
systems in the United States, including some of the largest healthcare systems, such as Forest Park Medical Center,
Greenville Hospital System, Highmark, Hospital Corporation of America, Indiana University Health, Piedmont
Healthcare, Steward Health Care System, and Tenet Healthcare System. As of December 31, 2013, approximately
96% of our portfolio, based on GLA, is located on-campus or aligned with nationally and regionally recognized
healthcare systems.

L pe Number of Percent of Number of
Portfolio Diversification by Type Buildings GLA (1) Total GLA States
Medical office buildings:

Single-tenant 76 3,159 22.4 % 17
Multi-tenant 193 9,685 68.8 23
Other healthcare facilities:

Hospitals 10 655 4.7 4
Seniors housing 9 581 4.1 3
Total 288 14,080 100.0 %

(1) Amount in thousands.

SIGNIFICANT TENANTS
As of December 31, 2013, none of the tenants at our properties accounted for more than 6% of our annualized base
rent. The table below depicts our top 15 health system relationships.

Weighted
Avera.gej, Total Leased  Percent of Annualized Percent. of
Tenant Remaining GLA (1) Leased GLA Base Rent (1) Annualized
Years in Lease 2) Base Rent
Term
Highmark 8 856 6.6 % $15,713 5.7 %
Greenville Hospital System 10 761 5.9 13,724 5.0
Hospital Corporation of America 5 329 2.5 7,583 2.8
Community Health Systems 5 327 2.5 7,128 2.6
Steward Health Care System 13 317 2.5 7,124 2.6
Aurora Health Care 10 315 2.4 6,684 2.4
Indiana University Health 4 294 2.3 4,739 1.7
Deaconess Health System 10 261 2.0 4,011 1.5
Banner Health 2 201 1.6 4,599 1.7
giglltal District Physicians Health 3 198 15 3.026 L1
Catholic Health Partners 4 177 1.4 2,770 1.0
Wellmont Health System 9 160 1.2 2,694 1.0
Rush University Medical Center 6 137 1.1 4,425 1.6
Diagnostic Clinic Medical Group 16 119 0.9 3,173 1.2
Forest Park Medical Center 7 112 0.9 3,090 1.1
Total 4,564 35.3 % $90,483 33.0 %

(1) Amounts in thousands.
@) Annualized base rent is calculated by multiplying contractual base rent as of December 31, 2013 by 12 (excluding
the impact of abatements, concessions, and straight-line rent).
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GEOGRAPHIC CONCENTRATION

As of December 31, 2013, our portfolio was comprised of approximately 14.1 million square feet of GLA and was
concentrated in key markets that we have determined to be strategic based on demographic trends and projected
demand for healthcare.

Market GLA (1) Percent of Portfolio
Phoenix, AZ 1,152 8.2 %
Pittsburgh, PA 1,094 7.8

Greenville, SC 965 6.9

Albany, NY 879 6.3

Indianapolis, IN 850 6.1

Houston, TX 692 4.9

Dallas, TX 682 4.8

Atlanta, GA 597 4.2

Miami, FL 591 4.2

Boston, MA 359 2.5

Total 7,861 55.9 %

(1) Amount in thousands.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Accounting Standard Codification, or ASC, 280, Segment
Reporting, or ASC 280, establishes standards for reporting financial and descriptive information about an enterprise’s
reportable segments. We have determined that we have one reportable segment, with activities related to investing in
medical office buildings, healthcare-related facilities and other real estate related assets. Our investments in real estate
and other real estate-related assets are geographically diversified and our chief operating decision maker evaluates
operating performance on an individual asset level. As each of our assets has similar economic characteristics, tenants,
and products and services, our assets have been aggregated into one reportable segment. See our accompanying
consolidated financial statements for further information.

COMPETITION

We compete with many other real estate investment entities, including financial institutions, institutional pension
funds, real estate developers, other REITS, other public and private real estate companies and private real estate
investors for the acquisition of medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry. During
the acquisition process, we compete with others who may have a competitive advantage in terms of size,
capitalization, local knowledge of the marketplace, and extended contacts throughout the region. Any combination of
these factors may result in an increased purchase price for real properties or other real estate related assets which may
reduce the number of opportunities available to us that meet our investment criteria. If the number of opportunities
that meet our investment criteria are limited, our ability to increase stockholder value may be adversely impacted.

We face competition in leasing available medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry
to prospective tenants. As a result, we may have to provide rent concessions, incur charges for tenant improvements,
offer other inducements, or we may be unable to timely lease vacant space in our properties, all of which may have an
adverse impact on our results of operations. At the time we elect to dispose of our properties, we will also be in
competition with sellers of similar properties to locate suitable purchase opportunities.

We believe our focus on medical office buildings, our experience and expertise, and our ongoing relationships with
healthcare providers provide us with a competitive advantage. We have established an asset identification and
acquisition network with healthcare providers and local developers, which provides for the early identification of and
access to acquisition opportunities. In addition, we believe this broad network allows us to effectively lease available
medical office space, retain our tenants, and maintain and improve our assets.
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GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS

Healthcare-Related Regulations

Overview. The healthcare industry is heavily regulated by federal, state and local governmental bodies. Our tenants
generally are subject to laws and regulations covering, among other things, licensure, certification for participation in
government programs, and relationships with physicians and other referral sources. Changes in these laws and
regulations could negatively affect the ability of our tenants to satisfy their contractual obligations, including making
lease payments to us.

Healthcare Legislation. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, or the Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or the Reconciliation Act, which
in part modified the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, together serve as the primary vehicle for
comprehensive healthcare reform in the United States and will become effective through a phased approach, which
began in 2010 and will conclude in 2018. The laws are intended to reduce the number of individuals in the United
States without health insurance and significantly change the means by which healthcare is organized, delivered and
reimbursed. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act includes program integrity provisions that both create
new authorities and expand existing authorities for federal and state governments to address fraud, waste and abuse in
federal healthcare programs. In addition, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act expanded reporting
requirements and responsibilities related to facility ownership and management, patient safety and quality of care. In
the ordinary course of their businesses, our tenants may be regularly subjected to inquiries, investigations and audits
by federal and state agencies that oversee these laws and regulations. If they do not comply with the additional
reporting requirements and responsibilities, our tenants’ ability to participate in federal healthcare programs may be
adversely affected. Moreover, there may be other aspects of the comprehensive healthcare reform legislation for
which regulations have not yet been adopted, which, depending on how they are implemented, could adversely affect
our tenants and their ability to meet their lease obligations to us.

On June 28, 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled on the constitutionality of the two laws generally upholding the
entirety of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, including holding that the “individual mandate” -- the
centerpiece of the legislation that requires all individuals to purchase some form of health insurance -- is permissibly
construed as a tax imposed on those who do not obtain health insurance. Notably, the portions of the health reform
laws addressing fraud, waste and abuse remain intact. The only aspect of the two laws that was held unconstitutional
is the mandated Medicaid expansion that would have required states to cover nonelderly persons with incomes up to
133% of the poverty level. The Supreme Court held that Congress could not require states to implement such an
expansion or risk losing all federal Medicaid funding. As a result of the Supreme Court’s decision, states may opt to
expand Medicaid coverage in accordance with the two laws, but they are not required to do so. In fact, more than one
dozen states have decided to opt out of the Medicaid expansion. Despite the Supreme Court’s decision, it remains
difficult to predict the impact of these laws on us due to their complexity, lack of implementing regulations or
interpretive guidance, and the gradual implementation of the laws over a multi-year period. In addition, there have
been numerous Congressional attempts to amend and repeal the laws both prior to and subsequent to the Supreme
Court’s ruling; we cannot predict whether any of these attempts to repeal or amend the laws will be successful.
Moreover, the launch of the federal and state health exchanges on October 1, 2013, received significant public
scrutiny for perceived technical shortcomings affecting the ability of individuals to enroll in health plans as mandated
by the Affordable Care Act. Consequently, it remains difficult to foresee how individuals and business will respond to
the choices afforded them by law. Because of the many variables involved, we are unable to predict how these laws
may impact our tenants’ operations or the net effect of these laws on us. Both our tenants and us may be adversely
affected by these laws.
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Reimbursement Programs. Sources of revenue for our tenants may include the federal Medicare program, state
Medicaid programs, private insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations, preferred provider arrangements,
self-insured employers and the patients themselves, among others. Medicare and Medicaid programs, as well as
numerous private insurance and managed care plans, generally require participating providers to accept
government-determined reimbursement levels as payment in full for services rendered, without regard to a facility’s
charges. Changes in the reimbursement rate or methods of payment from third-party payors, including Medicare and
Medicaid, could result in a substantial reduction in our tenants’ revenues. In fact, legislation governing Medicare
physician fee-for-service reimbursements has, for a number of years, called for significant reductions in such rates.
Congress, however, has repeatedly enacted superseding legislation postponing the implementation of physician rate
cuts, most recently postponing the effective date of such cuts until April 1, 2014. There are a number of Congressional
proposals to further postpone implementation of the cuts or to permanently address the issue, however, we cannot
predict whether any of these attempts will be successful. Efforts by such payors to reduce healthcare costs will likely
continue, which may result in reductions or slower growth in reimbursement for certain services provided by some of
our tenants. Further, revenue realizable under third-party payor agreements can change after examination and
retroactive adjustment by payors during the claims settlement processes or as a result of post-payment audits. Payors
may disallow requests for reimbursement based on determinations that certain costs are not reimbursable or
reasonable or because additional documentation is necessary or because certain services were not covered or were not
medically necessary. The recently enacted healthcare reform law and regulatory changes could impose further
limitations on government and private payments to healthcare providers. In some cases, states have enacted or are
considering enacting measures designed to reduce their Medicaid expenditures and to make changes to private
healthcare insurance. In addition, the failure of any of our tenants to comply with various laws and regulations could
jeopardize their ability to continue participating in Medicare, Medicaid and other government sponsored payment
programs. The financial impact on our tenants could restrict their ability to make rent payments to us.

Fraud and Abuse Laws. There are various federal and state laws prohibiting fraudulent and abusive business practices
by healthcare providers who participate in, receive payments from or are in a position to make referrals in connection
with government-sponsored healthcare programs, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Our lease
arrangements with certain tenants may also be subject to these fraud and abuse laws. These laws include, but are not
limited to:

the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, the offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of
any form of remuneration in return for, or to induce, the referral or recommendation for the ordering of any item or
service reimbursed by a federal healthcare program, including Medicare or Medicaid;

the Federal Physician Self-Referral Prohibition, commonly referred to as the Stark Law, which, subject to specific
exceptions, restricts physicians from making referrals for specifically designated health services for which payment
may be made under Medicare or Medicaid programs to an entity with which the physician, or an immediate family
member, has a financial relationship;

the False Claims Act, which prohibits any person from knowingly presenting or causing to be presented false or
fraudulent claims for payment to the federal government, including claims paid by the Medicare and Medicaid
programs;

the Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which authorizes the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to impose
monetary penalties for certain fraudulent acts and to exclude violators from participating in federal healthcare
programs; and

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, as amended by the Health Information Technology for
€conomic and Clinical Health Act of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which protects the
privacy and security of personal health information.

In the ordinary course of their business, our tenants may be subject to inquiries, investigations and audits by federal
and state agencies that oversee applicable laws and regulations. Private enforcement of healthcare fraud has also
increased, due in large part to amendments to the civil False Claims Act that were designed to encourage private
individuals to sue on behalf of the government. These whistleblower suits, known as qui tam suits, may be filed by
almost anyone, including present and former employees or patients. Each of these laws includes criminal and/or civil
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penalties for violations that range from punitive sanctions, damage assessments, penalties, imprisonment, denial of
Medicare and Medicaid payments and/or exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Additionally, states in
which the facilities are located may have similar fraud and abuse laws. Investigation by a federal or state
governmental body for violation of fraud and abuse laws or imposition of any of these penalties upon one of our
tenants could jeopardize that tenant’s ability to operate or to make rent payments to us.
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Healthcare Licensure and Certification. Some of our medical properties and our tenants may require a license or
multiple licenses or a certificate of need, or a CON, to operate. Failure to obtain a license or a CON, or loss of a
required license or a CON would prevent a facility from operating in the manner intended by the tenant. This event
could adversely affect our tenants’ ability to make rent payments to us. State and local laws also may regulate plant
expansion, including the addition of new beds or services or acquisition of medical equipment, and the construction of
healthcare-related facilities, by requiring a CON or other similar approval. State CON laws are not uniform
throughout the United States and are subject to change. We cannot predict the impact of state CON laws on our
facilities or the operations of our tenants.

Real Estate Ownership-Related Regulations

Many laws and governmental regulations are applicable to our properties and changes in these laws and regulations,
or their interpretation by agencies and the courts, occur frequently.

Costs of Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act. Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as
amended, or the ADA, all places of public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to
access and use by disabled persons. Although we believe that we are in substantial compliance with present
requirements of the ADA, none of our properties have been audited and we have only conducted investigations of a
few of our properties to determine compliance. We may incur additional costs in connection with compliance with the
ADA. Additional federal, state and local laws also may require modifications to our properties or restrict our ability to
renovate our properties. We cannot predict the cost of compliance with the ADA or other legislation. We may incur
substantial costs to comply with the ADA or any other legislation.

Costs of Government Environmental Regulation and Private Litigation. Environmental laws and regulations hold us
liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances which may be on our properties.
These laws could impose liability on us without regard to whether we are responsible for the presence or release of the
hazardous materials. Government investigations and remediation actions may cause substantial costs and the presence
of hazardous substances on a property could result in personal injury or similar claims by private plaintiffs. Various
laws also impose liability on persons who arrange for the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances and
such persons oftentimes must incur the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous substances at the disposal or
treatment facility. These laws often impose liability whether or not the person arranging for the disposal ever owned
or operated the disposal facility. As the owner and operator of our properties, we may be deemed to have arranged for
the disposal or treatment of hazardous or toxic substances.

Use of Hazardous Substances by Some of Our Tenants. Some of our tenants routinely handle hazardous substances
and wastes on our properties as part of their routine operations. Environmental laws and regulations subject these
tenants, and potentially us, to liability resulting from such activities. We require our tenants in their leases with us to
comply with these environmental laws and regulations and to indemnify us for any related liabilities. We are unaware
of any material noncompliance, liability or claim relating to hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum products in
connection with any of our properties.

Other Federal, State and Local Regulations. Our properties are subject to various federal, state and local regulatory
requirements, such as state and local fire and life safety requirements. If we fail to comply with these various
requirements, we may incur governmental fines or private damage awards. While we believe that our properties are
currently in material compliance with all of these regulatory requirements, we do not know whether existing
requirements will change or whether future requirements will require us to make significant unanticipated
expenditures that will adversely affect our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. We believe, based in part
on engineering reports which are generally obtained at the time we acquire the properties, that all of our properties
comply in all material respects with current regulations. However, if we were required to make significant
expenditures under applicable regulations, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and ability to
satisfy our debt service obligations and to pay distributions could be adversely affected.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately 160 employees, of which approximately 1% are subject to a
collective bargaining agreement.
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TAX MATTERS

We filed an election with our 2007 federal income tax return to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended, or the Code, and intend to maintain our qualification as a REIT in the future. As a qualified
REIT, with limited exceptions, we will not be taxed under federal and certain state income tax laws at the corporate
level on our taxable net income to the extent taxable net income is distributed to our stockholders. We expect to make
sufficient distributions to avoid income tax at the corporate level. While we believe that we are organized and
qualified as a REIT and we intend to operate in a manner that will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT, there can
be no assurance that we will be successful in this regard. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly
technical and complex provisions of the Code for which there are limited judicial and administrative interpretations
and involves the determination of a variety of factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information regarding our executive officers included in Part III, Item 10 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business

We are dependent on investments in the healthcare property sector, making our profitability more vulnerable to a
downturn or slowdown in that sector than if we were investing in multiple industries.

We concentrate our investments in the healthcare property sector. As a result, we are subject to risks inherent to
investments in a single industry. A downturn or slowdown in the healthcare property sector would have a greater
adverse impact on our business than if we had investments in multiple industries. Specifically, a downturn in the
healthcare property sector could negatively impact the ability of our tenants to make loan or lease payments to us as
well as our ability to maintain rental and occupancy rates, which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We face competition for the acquisition of medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare
industry, which may impede our ability to make future acquisitions or may increase the cost of these acquisitions.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities for acquisitions of medical office
buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry, including national, regional and local operators,
acquirers and developers of healthcare real estate properties. The competition for healthcare real estate properties may
significantly increase the price we must pay for medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare
industry or other real estate related assets we seek to acquire. The competition may also generally limit the number of
suitable investment opportunities offered to us or the number of properties that we are able to acquire, and may
increase the bargaining power of property owners seeking to sell to us, making it more difficult for us to acquire new
properties on attractive terms. Our potential acquisition targets may find our competitors to be more attractive because
they may have greater resources, may be willing to pay more to acquire the properties or may have a more compatible
operating philosophy. In particular, larger healthcare REITs may enjoy significant competitive advantages over us that
result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital and enhanced operating efficiencies. Moreover, these entities
generally may be able to accept more risk than we can prudently manage or are willing to accept. In addition, the
number of entities and the amount of funds competing for suitable investment properties may increase, which could
result in increased demand for these properties and, therefore, increased prices to acquire them. Because of an
increased interest in single-property acquisitions among tax-motivated individual purchasers, we may pay higher
prices for the purchase of single properties in comparison with the purchase of multi-property portfolios. If we pay
higher prices for medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry, our business, financial
condition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders may be adversely affected.
We may not be successful in identifying and completing acquisitions directly from hospitals and developers and other
suitable acquisitions or investment opportunities, which may impede our growth and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

A key component of our growth strategy is to acquire properties directly from hospitals and developers. Facilities that
are acquired directly from hospitals and developers are typically more attractive to us as a purchaser because of the
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opportunities directly from hospitals and developers in the future, our ability to locate and acquire facilities at
attractive prices could be adversely affected.
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We may not be able to maintain or expand our relationships with our hospital and healthcare system clients.

The success of our business depends to a large extent on our past, current and future relationships with hospital and
healthcare system clients. We invest a significant amount of time to develop and maintain these relationships, and
these relationships have helped us to secure acquisition opportunities, with both new and existing clients. If any of our
relationships with hospital or healthcare system clients deteriorates, or if a conflict of interest or non-compete
arrangement prevents us from expanding these relationships, our ability to secure new acquisition opportunities could
be adversely affected and our professional reputation within the industry could be damaged.

We may be unable to acquire any of the properties that we are pursuing or which are subject to non-binding letters of
intent, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.

At any given time, we may be pursuing property acquisitions or have properties subject to non-binding letters of
intent. We cannot assure you that we will acquire any of such properties because the letters of intent are non-binding
and potential transaction opportunities are subject to a variety of factors, including: (i) the willingness of the current
property owner to proceed with a potential transaction; (ii) our completion of due diligence that is satisfactory to us
and our receipt of internal approvals; (iii) the negotiation and execution of a mutually acceptable binding definitive
purchase agreement; and (iv) the satisfaction of closing conditions, including our receipt of third-party consents and
approvals. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will be in a position to acquire any of such properties. We may
incur significant costs and divert management attention in connection with the evaluation and negotiation of potential
acquisitions, including potential transactions that we are subsequently unable to complete. If we are unsuccessful in
completing the acquisition of additional properties in the future, our business, results of operations and our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders will be adversely affected.

Our results of operations, our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders, and our ability to dispose of our
investments are subject to general economic conditions affecting the commercial real estate and credit markets.

Our business is sensitive to national, regional and local economic conditions, as well as the commercial real estate and
credit markets. For example, the financial disruption and accompanying credit crisis negatively impacted the value of
commercial real estate assets, contributing to a general slowdown in our industry, which may continue in some or all
of our markets through the year ending December 31, 2014. The financial markets are still recovering from a
recession, which created volatile market conditions, resulted in a decrease in the availability of business credit, and led
to the insolvency, closure or acquisition of a number of financial institutions. A slow economic recovery could
continue or accelerate the reduction in overall transaction volume and size of sales and leasing activities of the type
that we have already experienced, and would continue to put downward pressure on our revenues and operating
results. We are unable to predict future changes in national, regional or local economic, demographic or real estate
market conditions.

Adverse economic conditions in the commercial real estate and credit markets may result in:

defaults by tenants of our properties due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity or operational failures;

rent concessions or reduced rental rates for our tenants to maintain or increase occupancy levels at our properties;
reduced values of our properties, thereby limiting our ability to dispose of our assets at attractive prices or obtain debt
financing secured by our properties as well as reducing the availability of unsecured loans;

the value and liquidity of our short-term investments and cash deposits being reduced as a result of a deterioration of
the financial condition of the institutions that hold our cash deposits or the institutions or assets in which we have
made short-term investments, the dislocation of the markets for our short-term investments, increased volatility in
market rates for such investment and other factors;

one or more lenders under our credit facilities refusing to fund their financing commitment to us and, in such event,
we are unable to replace the financing commitment of any such lender or lenders on favorable terms, or at all;

a recession or rise in interest rates, which could make it more difficult for us to lease our properties or dispose of our
properties or make alternative interest-bearing and other investments more attractive, thereby lowering the relative
value of our existing real estate investments;

one or more counterparties to our interest rate swaps default on their obligations to us, thereby increasing the risk that
we may not realize the benefits of these instruments;
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ability to maintain or increase occupancy levels and rents at our properties or to dispose of our investments;
eonstricted access to credit, which may result in tenant defaults or non-renewals under leases with our tenants; and

16

25



Edgar Filing: HEALTHCARE TRUST OF AMERICA, INC. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents

increased insurance premiums, real estate taxes or energy or other expenses, which may reduce funds available for
distribution to our stockholders or, to the extent such increases are passed through to our tenants, may lead to tenant
defaults or make it difficult for us to increase rents to tenants on turnover, which may limit our ability to increase our
returns.

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders may be
adversely affected to the extent an economic slowdown or downturn is prolonged or becomes more severe.

Our growth depends on external sources of capital that are outside of our control, which may affect our ability to seize
strategic opportunities, satisfy debt obligations and make distributions to our stockholders.

In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute to our stockholders, on an annual basis, at least 90% of our REIT
taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains.
Because of these distribution requirements, we may not be able to fund future capital needs, including any necessary
acquisition financing, from operating cash flow. Consequently, we may need to rely on third-party sources to fund our
capital needs, meet our debt service obligations, make distributions to our stockholders, or make future investments
necessary to implement our business strategy. We may not be able to obtain financing on favorable terms, in the time
period we desire, or at all. Our access to third-party sources of capital depends, in part, on: general market conditions;
the market's perception of our growth potential; our current debt levels; our current and expected future earnings; our
cash flow and cash distributions; and the market price per share of our Class A common stock. If we cannot obtain
capital from third-party sources, we may not be able to acquire properties when strategic opportunities exist, satisfy
our principal and interest obligations, or make the cash distributions to our stockholders necessary to maintain our
qualification as a REIT.

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of certain key personnel, each of whom
would be difficult to replace. If we were to lose the benefit of the experience, efforts and abilities of one or more of
these individuals, our operating results could suffer.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions is dependent upon the performance of our
Board of Directors, Scott D. Peters as our Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board, Kellie S.
Pruitt as our Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary, Mark D. Engstrom as our Executive Vice President -
Acquisitions, Amanda L. Houghton, as our Executive Vice President - Asset Management, and our other employees,
in the identification and acquisition of investments, the determination of any financing arrangements, the asset
management of our investments and operation of our day-to-day activities. Our stockholders will have no opportunity
to evaluate the terms of transactions or other economic or financial data concerning our investments that are not
described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or other periodic filings with the SEC. We rely primarily on the
management ability of our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers and the governance by the members
of our Board of Directors, each of whom would be difficult to replace. We do not have any key-person life insurance
on Messrs. Peters and Engstrom or Mses. Pruitt and Houghton. Although we have entered into employment
agreements with each of Messrs. Peters and Engstrom and Mses. Pruitt and Houghton, the employment agreements
contain various termination rights. If we were to lose the benefit of the experience, efforts and abilities of these
executives, our operating results could suffer. In addition, if any member of our Board of Directors were to resign, we
would lose the benefit of such director’s governance, experience and familiarity with us and the sector within which we
operate. As a result of the foregoing, we may be unable to achieve our investment objectives or to pay distributions to
our stockholders.

Compliance with changing government regulations may result in additional expenses.

The 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, includes new
regulations for over-the-counter derivatives and substantially increased regulation and risk of liability for credit rating
agencies, all of which could increase our cost of capital. The Dodd-Frank Act also includes provisions concerning
corporate governance and executive compensation which, among other things, require additional executive
compensation disclosures and enhanced independence requirements for board compensation committees and related
advisors, as well as provide explicit authority for the SEC to adopt proxy access, all of which could result in additional
expenses in order to maintain compliance. The Dodd-Frank Act is wide-ranging, and the provisions are broad with
significant discretion given to the many and varied agencies tasked with adopting and implementing the Act. The
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implemented over many months or years. As such, we cannot predict the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.
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Failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could harm our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to provide a report by management on internal control
over financial reporting, including management's assessment of the effectiveness of such control. Changes to our
business will necessitate ongoing changes to our internal control systems and processes. Internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of
human error, the circumvention or overriding of controls, or fraud. Therefore, even effective internal controls can
provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. If we
fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, including any failure to implement required new or improved
controls, or if we experience difficulties in their implementation, our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely harmed and we could fail to meet our reporting obligations.

Risks Related to our Organizational Structure

We may structure acquisitions of property in exchange for limited partnership units of our operating partnership on
terms that could limit our liquidity or our flexibility.

We may continue to acquire properties by issuing limited partnership units of our operating partnership, HTALP, in
exchange for a property owner contributing property to us. If we continue to enter into such transactions, in order to
induce the contributors of such properties to accept units of our operating partnership rather than cash in exchange for
their properties, it may be necessary for us to provide such additional incentives. For instance, our operating
partnership’s limited partnership agreement provides that any holder of units may exchange limited partnership units
on a one-for-one basis for, at our option, cash equal to the value of an equivalent number of shares of common stock.
We may, however, enter into additional contractual arrangements with contributors of property under which we would
agree to repurchase a contributor’s units for shares of our common stock or cash, at the option of the contributor, at set
times. If the contributor required us to repurchase units for cash pursuant to such a provision, it would limit our
liquidity and, thus, our ability to use cash to make other investments, satisfy other obligations or make distributions to
stockholders. Moreover, if we were required to repurchase units for cash at a time when we did not have sufficient
cash to fund the repurchase, we might be required to sell one or more of our properties to raise funds to satisfy this
obligation. Furthermore, we might agree that if distributions the contributor received as a limited partner in our
operating partnership did not provide the contributor with an established return level, then upon redemption of the
contributor’s units we would pay the contributor an additional amount necessary to achieve that return. Such a
provision could further negatively impact our liquidity and flexibility. Finally, in order to allow a contributor of a
property to defer taxable gain on the contribution of property to our operating partnership, we might agree not to sell a
contributed property for a defined period of time or until the contributor exchanged the contributor’s units for cash or
shares. Such an agreement would prevent us from selling those properties, even if market conditions would cause such
a sale to be favorable to us.

Our Board of Directors may change our investment objectives and major strategies and take other actions without
seeking stockholder approval.

Our Board of Directors determines our investment objectives and major strategies, including our strategies regarding
investments, financing, growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification, and distributions. Our Board of Directors may
amend or revise these and other strategies without a vote of the stockholders. Under our charter and Maryland law, our
stockholders will have a right to vote only on the following matters:

the election or removal of directors;

our dissolution;

certain mergers, consolidations, statutory share exchanges and sales or other dispositions of all or substantially all of
our assets; and

amendments of our charter, except that our Board of Directors may amend our charter without stockholder approval to
change our name or the name or other designation or the par value of any class or series of our stock and the
aggregate par value of our stock, increase or decrease the aggregate number of our shares of stock or the number of
our shares of any class or series that we have the authority to issue, or effect certain reverse stock splits.

As a result, our stockholders will not have a right to approve most actions taken by our Board of Directors.
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The limit on the percentage of shares of our common stock that any person may own may discourage a takeover or
business combination that may benefit our stockholders.

Our charter restricts the direct or indirect ownership by one person or entity to no more than 9.8% of the value of our
then outstanding capital stock (which includes common stock and any preferred stock we may issue) and no more than
9.8% of the value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of our then outstanding common stock. This
restriction may discourage a change of control of us and may deter individuals or entities from making tender offers
for shares of our common stock on terms that might be financially attractive to stockholders or which may cause a
change in our management. This ownership restriction may also prohibit business combinations that would have
otherwise been approved by our Board of Directors and our stockholders. In addition to deterring potential
transactions that may be favorable to our stockholders, these provisions may also decrease our stockholders’ ability to
sell their shares of our common stock.

Maryland law and our organizational documents limit our stockholders’ right to bring claims against our officers and
directors.

Maryland law provides that a director will not have any liability as a director so long as the director performs his or
her duties in good faith, in a manner he or she reasonably believes to be in our best interests, and with the care that an
ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. In addition, our charter provides
that, subject to the applicable limitations set forth under Maryland law, no director or officer will be liable to us or our
stockholders for monetary damages. Our charter also requires us to indemnify and, without requiring a preliminary
determination of the ultimate entitlement to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final
disposition of a proceeding to any individual who is a present or former director officer or any individual who while a
director or officer and at our request serves or has served as a director, officer, partner or trustee of another
corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise
and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity.
Moreover, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and all of our
executive officers. As a result, we and our stockholders may have more limited rights against these persons than might
otherwise exist under common law.

Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control of us, which could lower the value of our
common stock.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, or MGCL, applicable to us may have the effect of
inhibiting or deterring a third party from making a proposal to acquire us or of delaying or preventing a change of
control under circumstances that otherwise could provide our stockholders with the opportunity to realize a premium
over the then-prevailing market price of such shares, including:

provisions of the MGCL that permit our Board of Directors, without our stockholder approval and regardless of what
ts currently provided in our charter or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses, including adopting a classified
board;

“business combination” provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business combinations, asset transfers and
equity security issuances or reclassifications between us and an “interested stockholder” (defined generally as any
person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting stock or an affiliate or
associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of
10% or more of our then outstanding stock) or an affiliate of an interested stockholder for five years after the most
recent date on which the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, and thereafter may impose supermajority
voting requirements unless certain minimum price conditions are satisfied; and

“control share” provisions that provide that “control shares” of our company (defined as shares which, when aggregated
with other shares controlled by the stockholder, entitle the stockholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of
yoting power in electing directors) acquired in a “control share acquisition” (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition
of ownership or control of issued and outstanding “control shares’) have no voting rights except to the extent approved
by our stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter,
excluding all interested shares.
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Our Board of Directors has adopted a resolution providing that any business combination between us and any other
person is exempted from this statute, provided that such business combination is first approved by our board. This
resolution, however, may be altered or repealed in whole or in part at any time. In the case of the control share
provisions of the MGCL, we have opted out of these provisions pursuant to a provision in our bylaws. We may,
however, by amendment to our bylaws, opt in to the control share provisions of the MGCL. We may also choose to
adopt a classified board or other takeover defenses in the future. Any such actions could deter a transaction that may
otherwise be in the interest of our stockholders.
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Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Increasing vacancy rates for commercial real estate resulting from a slow economic recovery could result in increased
vacancies at some or all of our properties, which may result in reduced revenue and resale value.

We may experience vacancies as a result of tenant defaults under tenant leases with us or the expiration or termination
of tenant leases, and such vacancies may continue for a long period of time. Recent disruptions in the financial
markets and the slow economic recovery have resulted in a trend toward increasing vacancy rates for virtually all
classes of commercial real estate, including medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare
industry, due to generally lower demand for rentable space, and the potential oversupply of rentable space. Uncertain
economic conditions and related levels of unemployment have led to reduced demand for medical services, causing
physician groups and hospitals to delay expansion plans, leaving a growing number of vacancies in new buildings.
Reduced demand for medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry could require us to
increase tenant inducements, make tenant improvement expenditures or reduce rental rates to maintain occupancies.
As a result, we may suffer reduced revenues resulting in less cash distributions to our stockholders. In addition, the
resale value of our properties could be diminished because the market value of our properties will depend principally
upon the value of the leases at our properties.

We are dependent on the financial stability of our tenants.

Lease payment defaults by our tenants would cause us to lose the revenue associated with such leases, and we may
incur significant litigation costs in enforcing our rights as a landlord against the defaulting tenant causing us to reduce
the amount of distributions to our stockholders. Although approximately 56% of our annualized base rent was derived
from tenants (or their parent companies) that have a credit rating, a credit rating is no guarantee of a tenant’s ability to
perform its lease obligations and a parent company may choose not to satisfy the obligations of a subsidiary that fails
to perform its obligations. If the property is subject to a mortgage, a default by a significant tenant on its lease
payments to us may result in a foreclosure on the property if we are unable to find an alternative source of revenue to
meet mortgage payments. In the event of a tenant default, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as a
landlord and may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing our property, and may not be able
to re-lease the property for the rent previously received, if at all. Lease terminations could also reduce the value of our
properties.

We face potential adverse consequences of bankruptcy or insolvency by our tenants.

We are exposed to the risk that our tenants could become bankrupt or insolvent. This risk would be magnified to the
extent that a tenant leased multiple facilities from us. The bankruptcy and insolvency laws afford certain rights to a
party that has filed for bankruptcy or reorganization. For example, a debtor-tenant may reject its lease with us in a
bankruptcy proceeding. In such a case, our claim against the debtor-tenant for unpaid and future rents would be
limited by the statutory cap of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. This statutory cap might be substantially less than the
remaining rent actually owed to us under the lease, and it is quite likely that any claim we might have against the
tenant for unpaid rent would not be paid in full. In addition, a debtor-tenant may assert in a bankruptcy proceeding
that its lease should be re-characterized as a financing agreement. If such a claim is successful, our rights and
remedies as a lender, compared to our rights and remedies as a landlord, would generally be more limited.

Our tenant base may not remain stable or could become more concentrated which could harm our operating results
and financial condition.

Our tenant base may not remain stable or could become more concentrated among particular physicians and physician
groups with varying practices and other medical service providers in the future. Subject to the terms of the applicable
leases, our tenants could decide to leave our properties for numerous reasons, including, but not limited to, financial
stress or changes in the tenant's ownership or management. Our tenants service the healthcare industry and our tenant
mix could become even more concentrated if a preponderance of our tenants practice in a particular medical field or
are reliant upon a particular healthcare delivery system. If any of our tenants become financially unstable, our
operating results and prospects could suffer, particularly if our tenants become more concentrated.

Our medical office buildings, other facilities that serve the healthcare industry and tenants may be subject to
competition.
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Our medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry often face competition from nearby
hospitals and other medical office buildings that provide comparable services. Some of those competing facilities are
owned by governmental agencies and supported by tax revenues, and others are owned by nonprofit corporations and
may be supported to a large extent by endowments and charitable contributions. These types of support are not
available to our buildings.
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Similarly, our tenants face competition from other medical practices in nearby hospitals and other medical facilities.
Further, referral sources, including physicians and managed care organizations, may change their lists of hospitals or
physicians to which they refer patients. Competition and loss of referrals could adversely affect our tenants’ ability to
make rental payments, which could adversely affect our rental revenues. Any reduction in rental revenues resulting
from the inability of our medical office buildings and our other facilities that serve the healthcare industry and our
tenants to compete successfully may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

The hospitals on whose campuses our medical office buildings are located and their affiliated healthcare systems
could fail to remain competitive or financially viable, which could adversely impact their ability to attract physicians
and physician groups to our medical office buildings and our other facilities that serve the healthcare industry.

Our medical office building operations and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry depend on the viability of
the hospitals on or near whose campuses our medical office buildings are located and their affiliated healthcare
systems in order to attract physicians and other healthcare-related clients. The viability of these hospitals, in turn,
depends on factors such as the quality and mix of healthcare services provided, competition, demographic trends in
the surrounding community, market position and growth potential, as well as the ability of the affiliated healthcare
systems to provide economies of scale and access to capital. If a hospital on or near whose campus one of our medical
office buildings is located is unable to meet its financial obligations, and if an affiliated healthcare system is unable to
support that hospital, the hospital may not be able to compete successfully or could be forced to close or relocate,
which could adversely impact its ability to attract physicians and other healthcare-related clients. Because we rely on
our proximity to and affiliations with these hospitals to create demand for space in our medical office buildings, their
inability to remain competitive or financially viable, or to attract physicians and physician groups, could adversely
affect our medical office building operations and have an adverse effect on us.

The unique nature of certain of our properties, including our senior healthcare properties, may make it difficult to
lease or transfer our property or find replacement tenants, which could require us to spend considerable capital to
adapt the property to an alternative use or otherwise negatively affect our performance.

Some of the properties we seek to acquire are specialized medical facilities or otherwise designed or built for a
particular tenant of a specific type of use known as a single use facility. For example, senior healthcare facilities
present unique challenges with respect to leasing and transfer. Skilled nursing, assisted living and independent living
facilities are typically highly customized and may not be easily modified to accommodate non-healthcare-related uses.
The improvements generally required to conform a property to healthcare use, such as upgrading electrical, gas and
plumbing infrastructure, are costly and often times operator-specific. As a result, these property types may not be
suitable for lease to traditional office tenants or other healthcare tenants with unique needs without significant
expenditures or renovations. A new or replacement tenant may require different features in a property, depending on
that tenant’s particular operations.

If we or our tenants terminate or do not renew the leases for our properties or our tenants lose their regulatory
authority to operate such properties or default on their lease obligations for any reason, we may not be able to locate,
or may incur additional costs to locate, suitable replacement tenants to lease the properties for their specialized uses.
Alternatively, we may be required to spend substantial amounts to modify a property for a new tenant, or for multiple
tenants with varying infrastructure requirements, before we are able to re-lease the space or we could otherwise incur
re-leasing costs. Furthermore, because transfers of healthcare facilities may be subject to regulatory approvals not
required for transfers of other types of property, there may be significant delays in transferring operations of senior
healthcare facilities to successor operators. Any loss of revenues or additional capital expenditures required as a result
may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

Uninsured losses relating to real estate and lender requirements to obtain insurance may reduce stockholder returns.
There are types of losses relating to real estate, generally catastrophic in nature, such as losses due to wars, acts of
terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or environmental matters, for which we do not intend to obtain
insurance unless we are required to do so by mortgage lenders. If any of our properties incurs a casualty loss that is
not fully covered by insurance, the value of our assets will be reduced by any such uninsured loss. In addition, other
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than any reserves we may establish, we have no source of funding to repair or reconstruct any uninsured damaged
property, and we cannot assure our stockholders that any such sources of funding will be available to us for such
purposes in the future. Also, to the extent we must pay unexpectedly large amounts for uninsured losses, we could
suffer reduced earnings that would result in less cash to be distributed to stockholders. In cases where we are required
by mortgage lenders to obtain casualty loss insurance for catastrophic events or terrorism, such insurance may not be
available, or may not be available at a reasonable cost, which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance our
properties. Additionally, if we obtain such insurance, the costs associated with owning a property would increase and
could have an adverse effect on the net income from the property, and, thus, the cash available for distribution to our
stockholders.

21

35



Edgar Filing: HEALTHCARE TRUST OF AMERICA, INC. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents

We may obtain only limited warranties when we purchase a property and would have only limited recourse in the
event our due diligence did not identify any issues that lower the value of our property.
The seller of a property often sells such property in its “as is” condition on a “where is” basis and “with all faults,” without
any warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular use or purpose. In addition, purchase and sale agreements
may contain only limited warranties, representations and indemnifications that will only survive for a limited period
after the closing. The purchase of properties with limited warranties increases the risk that we may lose some or all of
our invested capital in the property, as well as the loss of rental income from that property.
We may fail to successfully operate acquired properties.
Our ability to successfully operate any acquired properties are subject to the following risks:
we may acquire properties that are not initially accretive to our results upon acquisition, and we may not
successfully manage and lease those properties to meet our expectations;
we may be unable to finance the acquisition on favorable terms in the time period we desire, or at all;
even if we are able to finance the acquisition, our cash flow may be insufficient to meet our required principal and
interest payments;
we may spend more than budgeted to make necessary improvements or renovations to acquired properties;
we may be unable to quickly and efficiently integrate new acquisitions, particularly acquisitions of portfolios of
properties, into our existing operations and, as a result, our results of operations and financial condition could be
adversely affected;
market conditions may result in higher than expected vacancy rates and lower than expected rental rates; and
we may acquire properties subject to liabilities, including contingent liabilities, and without any recourse, or with only
limited recourse, with respect to unknown liabilities for the clean-up of undisclosed environmental contamination,
claims by tenants or other persons dealing with former owners of the properties, liabilities, claims, and litigation,
tncluding indemnification obligations, whether or not incurred in the ordinary course of business, relating to periods
prior to or following our acquisitions, claims for indemnification by general partners, directors, officers and others
indemnified by the former owners of the properties, and liabilities for taxes relating to periods prior to our
acquisitions.
If we are unable to successfully operate acquired properties, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow
and ability to satisfy our principal and interest obligations and to make distributions to our stockholders could be
adversely affected.
Our ownership of certain medical office building properties and other facilities are subject to ground leases or other
similar agreements which limit our uses of these properties and may restrict our ability to sell or otherwise transfer
such properties.
As of December 31, 2013, we held interests in 89 of our medical office building properties and other facilities that
serve the healthcare industry through leasehold interests in the land on which the buildings are located and we may
acquire additional properties in the future that are subject to ground leases or other similar agreements. As of
December 31, 2013, these properties represented 34.7% of our total GLA. Many of our ground leases and other
similar agreements limit our uses of these properties and may restrict our ability to sell or otherwise transfer such
properties, which may impair their value.
Uncertain market conditions relating to the future disposition of properties could cause us to sell our properties at a
loss in the future.
We intend to hold our various real estate investments until such time as we determine that a sale or other disposition
appears to be advantageous to achieve our investment objectives. Our Chief Executive Officer and our Board of
Directors may exercise their discretion as to whether and when to sell a property, and we will have no obligation to
sell properties at any particular time. We generally intend to hold properties for an extended period of time, and we
cannot predict with any certainty the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that will exist at any
particular time in the future. Because of the uncertainty of market conditions that may affect the future disposition of
our properties, we may not be able to sell our properties at a profit in the future or at all. Additionally, we may incur
prepayment penalties in the event we sell a property subject to a mortgage earlier than we otherwise had planned.
Accordingly, the extent to which our stockholders will receive cash distributions and realize potential appreciation on

36



Edgar Filing: HEALTHCARE TRUST OF AMERICA, INC. - Form 10-K

our real estate investments will, among other things, be dependent upon fluctuating market conditions. Any inability
to sell a property could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operation and ability to pay
distributions to our stockholders.
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Lease rates under our long-term leases may be lower than fair market lease rates over time.

We have entered into and may in the future enter into long-term leases with tenants at certain of our properties.
Certain of our long-term leases provide for rent to increase over time. However, if we do not accurately judge the
potential for increases in market rental rates, we may set the terms of these long-term leases at levels such that even
after contractual rental increases, the rent under our long-term leases is less than then-current market rental rates.
Further, we may have no ability to terminate those leases or to adjust the rent to then-prevailing market rates. As a
result, our income and distributions could be lower than if we did not enter into long-term leases.

Rents associated with new leases for properties in our portfolio may be less than expiring rents (lease roll-down),
which may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

Our operating results depend upon our ability to maintain and increase rental rates at our properties while also
maintaining or increasing occupancy. The rental rates for expiring leases may be higher than starting rental rates for
new leases and we may also be required to offer greater rental concessions than we have historically. The rental rate
spread between expiring leases and new leases may vary both from property to property and among different leased
spaces within a single property. If we are unable to obtain sufficient rental rates across our portfolio, our business,
financial condition, results of operation and ability to pay distributions to our stockholders could be adversely
affected.

We may not be able to control our operating costs or our expenses may remain constant or increase, even if our
revenue does not increase, which could cause our results of operations to be adversely affected.

Factors that may adversely affect our ability to control operating costs include the need to pay for insurance and other
operating costs, including real estate taxes, which could increase over time, the need periodically to repair, renovate
and re-let space, the cost of compliance with governmental regulation, including zoning and tax laws, the potential for
liability under applicable laws, interest rate levels and the availability of financing. If our operating costs increase as a
result of any of the foregoing factors, our results of operations may be adversely affected. The expenses of owning and
operating medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry are not necessarily reduced
when circumstances such as market factors and competition cause a reduction in income from the property. As a
result, if revenue declines, we may not be able to reduce our expenses accordingly. Certain costs associated with real
estate investments may not be reduced even if a property is not fully occupied or other circumstances cause our
revenues to decrease. If a property is mortgaged and we are unable to meet the mortgage payments, the lender could
foreclose on the mortgage and take possession of the property, resulting in a further reduction in our net income.
Increases in property taxes could adversely affect our cash flow.

Our real properties are subject to real and personal property taxes that may increase as tax rates change and as the real
properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. Some of our leases generally provide that the property
taxes or increases therein are charged to the tenants as an expense related to the real properties that they occupy while
other leases provide that we are generally responsible for such taxes. We are also generally responsible for real
property taxes related to any vacant space. In any case, as the owner of the properties, we are ultimately responsible
for payment of the taxes to the applicable government authorities. If real property taxes increase, our tenants may be
unable to make the required tax payments, ultimately requiring us to pay the taxes even if the tenant is obligated to do
so under the terms of the lease. If we fail to pay any such taxes, the applicable taxing authority may place a lien on the
real property and the real property may be subject to a tax sale.
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We face possible liability for environmental cleanup costs and damages for contamination related to properties we
acquire, which could substantially increase our costs and reduce our liquidity and cash distributions to stockholders.
Because we own and operate real estate, we are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws,
ordinances and regulations. Under these laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner or operator of
real estate may be liable for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances on, under or in such
property. The costs of removal or remediation could be substantial. Such laws often impose liability whether or not
the owner or operator knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances.
Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be
operated, and these restrictions may require substantial expenditures. Environmental laws provide for sanctions in the
event of noncompliance and may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private
parties. Certain environmental laws and common law principles could be used to impose liability for release of and
exposure to hazardous substances, including the release of asbestos-containing materials into the air, and third parties
may seek recovery from owners or operators of real estate for personal injury or property damage associated with
exposure to released hazardous substances. In addition, new or more stringent laws or stricter interpretations of
existing laws could increase the cost of compliance or liabilities and restrictions arising out of such laws. The cost of
defending against these claims, complying with environmental regulatory requirements, conducting remediation of
any contaminated property, or paying personal injury or other claims or fines could be substantial, which would
reduce our liquidity and cash available for distribution to our stockholders. In addition, the presence of hazardous
substances on a property or the failure to meet environmental regulatory requirements may materially impair our
ability to use, lease or sell a property, or to use the property as collateral for borrowing. Our tenants’ operations, the
existing condition of land when we buy it, operations in the vicinity of our real properties, such as the presence of
underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties may also adversely affect our real properties.

Costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 may result in unanticipated
expenses.

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the ADA, all places of public accommodation are required to
meet certain U.S. federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. A number of additional U.S.
federal, state and local laws may also require modifications to our properties, or restrict certain further renovations of
the properties, with respect to access thereto by disabled persons. Noncompliance with the ADA could result in the
imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants and/or an order to correct any non-complying feature,
which could result in substantial capital expenditures. We have not conducted an audit or investigation of all of our
properties to determine our compliance and we cannot predict the ultimate cost of compliance with the ADA or other
legislation. If one or more of our properties is not in compliance with the ADA or other related legislation, then we
would be required to incur additional costs to bring the facility into compliance. If we incur substantial costs to
comply with the ADA or other related legislation, our business, financial condition, results of operations, ability to
make distributions to our stockholders and the trading price of our Class A common stock may be adversely affected.
Risks Related to the Healthcare Industry

New laws or regulations affecting the heavily regulated healthcare industry, changes to existing laws or regulations,
loss of licensure or failure to obtain licensure could result in the inability of our tenants to make rent payments to us.
The healthcare industry is heavily regulated by federal, state and local governmental bodies. Our tenants generally are
subject to laws and regulations covering, among other things, licensure, certification for participation in government
programs, and relationships with physicians and other referral sources. Changes in these laws and regulations could
negatively affect the ability of our tenants to make lease payments to us and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.

Many of our medical properties and our tenants may require a license or multiple licenses or a certificate of need, or a
CON, to operate. Failure to obtain a license or a CON, or loss of a required license or a CON would prevent a facility
from operating in the manner intended by the tenant. These events could adversely affect our tenants’ ability to make
rent payments to us. State and local laws also may regulate expansion, including the addition of new beds or services
or acquisition of medical equipment, and the construction of facilities that serve the healthcare industry, by requiring a
CON or other similar approval. State CON laws are not uniform throughout the United States and are subject to
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change. We cannot predict the impact of state CON laws on our facilities or the operations of our tenants.

In limited circumstances, loss of state licensure or certification or closure of a facility could ultimately result in loss of
authority to operate the facility and require new CON authorization to re-institute operations. As a result, a portion of
the value of the facility may be reduced, which would adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
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Comprehensive healthcare reform legislation could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations and our ability to pay distributions to stockholders.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, or the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, and the
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, or the Reconciliation Act, which in part modified the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act, together serve as the primary vehicle for comprehensive healthcare reform in the
United States and will become effective through a phased approach, which began in 2010 and will conclude in 2018.
The laws are intended to reduce the number of individuals in the United States without health insurance and
significantly change the means by which healthcare is organized, delivered and reimbursed. The Patient Protection
and Affordable Care Act includes program integrity provisions that both create new authorities and expand existing
authorities for federal and state governments to address fraud, waste and abuse in federal healthcare programs. In
addition, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act expands reporting requirements and responsibilities related to
facility ownership and management, patient safety and quality of care. In the ordinary course of their businesses, our
tenants may be regularly subjected to inquiries, investigations and audits by federal and state agencies that oversee
these laws and regulations. If our tenants do not comply with the additional reporting requirements and
responsibilities, their ability to participate in federal healthcare programs may be adversely affected. Moreover, there
may be other aspects of the comprehensive healthcare reform legislation for which regulations have not yet been
adopted, which, depending on how they are implemented, could adversely affect our tenants and their ability to meet
their lease obligations to us. On June 28, 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled on the constitutionality of the two laws
generally upholding the entirety of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, including holding that the
“individual mandate”-- the centerpiece of the legislation that requires all individuals to purchase some form of health
insurance -- is permissibly construed as a tax imposed on those who do not obtain health insurance. Notably, the
portions of the health reform laws addressing fraud, waste and abuse remain intact. The only aspect of the laws that
were held unconstitutional is the mandated Medicaid expansion that would have required states to cover nonelderly
persons with incomes up to 133 percent of the poverty level. The Supreme Court held that Congress could not require
states to implement such an expansion or risk losing all federal Medicaid funding. As a result of the Supreme Court's
decision, states may opt to expand Medicaid coverage in accordance with the laws but are not required to do so. In
fact, more than one dozen states have decided to opt out of the Medicaid expansion. Despite the Supreme Court's
decision, it remains difficult to predict the impact of these laws on us due to their complexity, lack of implementing
regulations or interpretive guidance, and the gradual implementation of the laws over a multi-year period. In addition,
there have been numerous Congressional attempts to amend and repeal the laws both prior to and subsequent to the
Supreme Court's ruling; we cannot predict whether any of these attempts to repeal or amend the laws will be
successful. Moreover, the launch of the federal and state health exchanges on October 1, 2013, received significant
public scrutiny for perceived technical shortcomings affecting the ability of individuals to enroll in health plans as
mandated by the Affordable Care Act. Consequently, it remains difficult to foresee how individuals and business will
respond to the choices afforded them by law. Because of the many variables involved, we are unable to predict how
these laws may impact our tenants' operations or the net effect of these laws on us. Both our tenants and us may be
adversely affected by these laws.

Reductions in reimbursement from third party payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, could adversely affect the
profitability of our tenants and hinder their ability to make rent payments to us.

Sources of revenue for our tenants may include the federal Medicare program, state Medicaid programs, private
insurance carriers, health maintenance organizations, preferred provider arrangements, self-insured employers and the
patients themselves, among others. Medicare and Medicaid programs, as well as numerous private insurance and
managed care plans, generally require participating providers to accept government-determined reimbursement rates
as payment in full for services rendered, without regard to a provider’s charges. Changes in the reimbursement rate or
methods of payment from third-party payors, including Medicare and Medicaid, could result in a substantial reduction
in our tenants’ revenues. In fact, legislation governing Medicare physician fee-for-service reimbursement has, for a
number of years, called for a significant reduction in such rates. Congress, however, has repeatedly enacted
superseding legislation postponing the implementation of physician rate cuts, most recently postponing the effective
date of such cuts until April 1, 2014. There are a number of Congressional proposals to further postpone
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implementation of the cuts or to permanently address the issue, but we cannot predict whether any of these attempts
will be successful. Efforts by such payors to reduce healthcare costs will likely continue, which may result in
reductions or slower growth in reimbursement for certain services provided by some of our tenants. Further, revenue
realizable under third-party payor agreements can change after examination and retroactive adjustment by payors
during the claims settlement processes or as a result of post-payment audits. Payors may disallow requests for
reimbursement based on determinations that certain costs are not reimbursable or reasonable or because additional
documentation is necessary or because certain services were not covered or were not medically necessary. The
recently enacted healthcare reform law and regulatory changes could impose further limitations on government and
private payments to healthcare providers. In some cases, states have enacted, or are considering enacting, measures
designed to reduce their Medicaid expenditures and to make changes to private healthcare insurance. In addition, the
failure of any of our tenants to comply with various laws and regulations could jeopardize their ability to continue
participating in Medicare, Medicaid and other government sponsored payment programs.
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The healthcare industry continues to face various challenges, including increased government and private payor
pressure on healthcare providers to control or reduce costs. It is possible that our tenants will continue to experience a
shift in payor mix away from fee-for-service payors, resulting in an increase in the percentage of revenues attributable
to managed care payors, and general industry trends that include pressures to control healthcare costs. Pressures to
control healthcare costs and a shift away from traditional health insurance reimbursement to managed care plans have
resulted in an increase in the number of patients whose healthcare coverage is provided under managed care plans,
such as health maintenance organizations and preferred provider organizations. These changes could have an adverse
effect on the financial condition of some or all of our tenants. The financial impact on our tenants could restrict their
ability to make rent payments to us, which would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Government budget deficits could lead to a reduction in Medicaid and Medicare reimbursement, which could
adversely affect the financial condition of our tenants.

Adverse U.S. economic conditions have negatively affected state budgets, which may put pressure on states to
decrease reimbursement rates with the goal of decreasing state expenditures under state Medicaid programs. The need
to control Medicaid expenditures may be exacerbated by the potential for increased enrollment in state Medicaid
programs due to unemployment, declines in family incomes, and eligibility expansions required by the recently
enacted healthcare reform law. These potential reductions could be compounded by the potential for federal
cost-cutting efforts that could lead to reductions in reimbursement rates under both the federal Medicare program and
state Medicaid programs. Potential reductions in reimbursements under these programs could negatively impact the
ability of our tenants and their ability to meet their obligations to us, which could, in turn, have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
Some tenants of our medical office buildings and our other facilities that serve the healthcare industry are subject to
fraud and abuse laws, the violation of which by a tenant may jeopardize the tenant’s ability to make rent payments to
us.

There are various federal and state laws prohibiting fraudulent and abusive business practices by healthcare providers
who participate in, receive payments from, or are in a position to make referrals in connection with,
government-sponsored healthcare programs, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs. These laws include, but
are not limited to:

the Federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, the offer, payment, solicitation or receipt of
any form of remuneration in return for, or to induce, the referral or recommendation for the ordering of any item or
service reimbursed by Medicare or Medicaid;

the Federal Physician Self-Referral Prohibition, which, subject to specific exceptions, restricts physicians from
making referrals for specifically designated health services for which payment may be made under Medicare or
Medicaid programs to an entity with which the physician, or an immediate family member, has a financial
relationship;

the False Claims Act, which prohibits any person from knowingly presenting or causing to be presented false or
fraudulent claims for payment to the federal government, including claims paid by the Medicare and Medicaid
programs; and

.the Civil Monetary Penalties Law, which authorizes the United States Department of Health and Human Services to
impose monetary penalties for certain fraudulent acts; and

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act, as amended by the Health Information Technology for
€conomic and Clinical Health Act of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009, which protects the
privacy and security of personal health information.

In the ordinary course of their business, our tenants may be subject to inquiries, investigations and audits by federal
and state agencies that oversee applicable laws and regulations. Private enforcement of healthcare fraud has also
increased, due in large part to amendments to the civil False Claims Act that were designed to encourage private
individuals to sue on behalf of the government. These whistleblower suits, known as qui tam suits, may be filed by
almost anyone, including present and former employees or patients. Each of these laws includes criminal and/or civil
penalties for violations that range from punitive sanctions, damage assessments, penalties, imprisonment, denial of
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Medicare and Medicaid payments and/or exclusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Additionally, states in
which the facilities are located may have similar fraud and abuse laws. Investigation by a federal or state
governmental body for violation of fraud and abuse laws or imposition of any of these penalties upon one of our
tenants could jeopardize that tenant’s ability to operate or to make rent payments, which may have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.
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Our tenants may be subject to significant legal actions that could subject them to increased operating costs and
substantial uninsured liabilities, which may affect their ability to pay their rent payments to us.

As is typical in the healthcare industry, our tenants may often become subject to claims that their services have
resulted in patient injury or other adverse effects. Many of these tenants may have experienced an increasing trend in
the frequency and severity of professional liability and general liability insurance claims and litigation asserted against
them. The insurance coverage maintained by these tenants may not cover all claims made against them nor continue to
be available at a reasonable cost, if at all. In some states, insurance coverage for the risk of punitive damages arising
from professional liability and general liability claims and/or litigation may not, in certain cases, be available to these
tenants due to state law prohibitions or limitations of availability. As a result, these types of tenants of our medical
office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare industry operating in these states may be liable for
punitive damage awards that are either not covered or are in excess of their insurance policy limits. There has been,
and will continue to be, an increase in governmental investigations of certain healthcare providers, particularly in the
area of Medicare/Medicaid false claims and quality of care, as well as an increase in enforcement actions resulting
from these investigations. Insurance is not available to cover such losses. Any adverse determination in a legal
proceeding or governmental investigation, whether currently asserted or arising in the future, could lead to potential
termination from government programs, large penalties and fines and otherwise have an adverse effect on a tenant’s
financial condition. If a tenant is unable to obtain or maintain insurance coverage, if judgments are obtained in excess
of the insurance coverage, if a tenant is required to pay uninsured punitive damages, or if a tenant is subject to an
uninsurable government enforcement action, the tenant could be exposed to substantial additional liabilities, which
may affect the tenant’s ability to pay rent to us, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations, and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We may experience adverse effects as a result of potential financial and operational challenges faced by the operators
of our senior healthcare facilities.

Operators of our senior healthcare facilities may face operational challenges from potentially reduced revenue streams
and increased demands on their existing financial resources.

Changes in reimbursement policies. Our skilled nursing operators’ revenues are primarily derived from
governmentally-funded reimbursement programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid. Accordingly, our facility operators
are subject to the potential negative effects of decreased reimbursement rates offered through such programs.

Impact of general economic conditions. Our operators’ revenue may also be adversely affected as a result of falling
occupancy rates or slow lease-ups for assisted and independent living facilities due to the recent turmoil in the capital
debt and real estate markets. The economic deterioration of an operator could cause such an operator to file for
bankruptcy protection. The bankruptcy or insolvency of an operator may adversely affect the income produced by the
property or properties it operates.

Compliance costs. Our operators’ performance and economic condition may be negatively affected if they fail to
comply with various complex federal and state laws that govern a wide array of referrals, relationships,
reimbursement and licensure requirements in the senior healthcare industry. The violation of any of these laws or
regulations by a senior healthcare facility operator may result in the imposition of fines or other penalties that could
jeopardize that operator’s ability to make payment obligations to us or to continue operating its facility. Compliance
with the requirements in the healthcare reform law could increase costs as well. Increased costs could limit our
healthcare operator’s ability to meet their obligations to us, potentially decreasing our revenue and increasing our
collection and litigation costs.

Legal actions. Moreover, advocacy groups that monitor the quality of care at healthcare facilities have sued healthcare
facility operators and called upon state and federal legislators to enhance their oversight of trends in healthcare facility
ownership and quality of care. In response, the recently enacted healthcare reform law imposes additional reporting
requirements and responsibilities for healthcare facility operators. Patients have also sued healthcare facility operators
and have, in certain cases, succeeded in winning very large damage awards for alleged abuses. This litigation and
potential litigation in the future has materially increased the costs incurred by our operators for monitoring and
reporting quality of care compliance.
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Insurance. In addition, the cost of medical malpractice and liability insurance has increased and may continue to
increase so long as the present litigation environment affecting the operations of healthcare facilities continues. To the
extent we are required to remove or replace a healthcare operator, our revenue from the affected property could be
reduced or eliminated for an extended period of time.
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New or future legislative proposals. In addition, legislative proposals are commonly being introduced or proposed in
federal and state legislatures that could affect major changes in the senior healthcare sector, either nationally or at the
state level. It is impossible to say with any certainty whether this proposed legislation will be adopted or, if adopted,
what effect such legislation would have on our facility operators and our senior healthcare operations.

Increased operating expenses. In addition, our facility operators may incur additional demands on their existing
financial resources as a result of increases in senior healthcare operator liability, insurance premiums and other
operational expenses. Our financial position could be weakened and our ability to make distributions could be limited
if any of our senior healthcare facility operators were unable to meet their financial obligations to us.

Any of these factors could adversely affect the ability of our tenants to pay rent to us, diminish the value of our
properties or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and our
ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

Risks Related to Investments in Other Real Estate Related Assets

The mortgage or other real estate-related loans in which we have in the past, and may in the future, invest may be
impacted by unfavorable real estate market conditions, which could decrease their value.

As of December 31, 2013, we have invested in real estate notes receivable. If we make additional investments in real
estate notes receivable, we will be at risk of loss on those investments, including losses as a result of defaults on
mortgage loans. These losses may be caused by many conditions beyond our control, including economic conditions
affecting real estate values, tenant defaults and lease expirations, interest rate levels and the other economic and
liability risks associated with real estate described above under the heading - Risks Related to Investments in Real
Estate.” If we acquire property by foreclosure following defaults under our mortgage loan investments, we will have
the economic and liability risks as the owner described above. We do not know whether the values of the property
securing any of our investments in other real estate related assets will remain at the levels existing on the dates we
initially make the related investment. If the values of the underlying properties decline, our risk will increase and the
value of our interests may decrease.

Delays in liquidating defaulted mortgage loan investments could reduce our investment returns.

If there are defaults under our mortgage loan investments, we may not be able to foreclose on or obtain a suitable
remedy with respect to such investments. Specifically, we may not be able to repossess and sell the underlying
properties quickly which could reduce the value of our investment. For example, an action to foreclose on a property
securing a mortgage loan is regulated by state statutes and rules and is subject to many of the delays and expenses of
lawsuits if the defendant raises defenses or counterclaims. Additionally, in the event of default by a mortgagor, these
restrictions, among other things, may impede our ability to foreclose on or sell the mortgaged property or to obtain
proceeds sufficient to repay all amounts due to us on the mortgage loan.

Interest rate and related risks may cause the value of our investments in other real estate related assets to be reduced.
Interest rate risk is the risk that fixed income securities such as preferred and debt securities and, to a lesser extent,
dividend paying common stock, will decline in value because of changes in market interest rates. Generally, when
market interest rates rise, the market value of such securities will decline, and vice versa. Our investment in such
securities means that the net asset value may tend to decline if market interest rates rise.

During periods of rising interest rates, the average life of certain types of securities may be extended because of
slower than expected principal payments. This may lock in a below-market interest rate, increase the security’s
duration and reduce the value of the security. During periods of declining interest rates, an issuer may be able to
exercise an option to prepay principal earlier than scheduled, which may force us to reinvest in lower yielding
securities. Preferred and debt securities frequently have call features that allow the issuer to repurchase the security
prior to its stated maturity. An issuer may redeem an obligation if the issuer can refinance the debt at a lower cost due
to declining interest rates or an improvement in the credit standing of the issuer. These risks may reduce the value of
our investments in other real estate related assets.

If we liquidate prior to the maturity of our investments in real estate assets, we may be forced to sell those investments
on unfavorable terms or at a loss.

Our Board of Directors may choose to effect a liquidity event in which we liquidate our assets, including our
investments in other real estate related assets. If we liquidate those investments prior to their maturity, we may be
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forced to sell those investments on unfavorable terms or at a loss. For instance, if we are required to liquidate
mortgage loans at a time when prevailing interest rates are higher than the interest rates of such mortgage loans, we
would likely sell such loans at a discount to their stated principal values.
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Risks Related to Debt Financing

We have and intend to incur mortgage indebtedness and other borrowings, which may increase our business risks,
could hinder our ability to make distributions and could decrease the value of our Company.

As of December 31, 2013, we had fixed and variable rate debt of $1.2 billion outstanding, including a net premium of
$0.6 million. We intend to continue to finance a portion of the purchase price of our investments in real estate and
other real estate related assets by borrowing funds. In addition, we may incur mortgage debt and pledge some or all of
our real properties as security for that debt to obtain funds to acquire additional real properties or for working capital.
We may also borrow funds to satisfy the REIT tax qualification requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our
annual ordinary taxable income to our stockholders. Furthermore, we may borrow if we otherwise deem it necessary
or advisable to ensure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We
generally expect our leverage ratio to range between 35% and 45%.

High debt levels will cause us to incur higher interest charges, which would result in higher debt service payments and
could be accompanied by restrictive covenants. If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from a property and the
cash flow needed to service mortgage debt on that property, then the amount available for distributions to our
stockholders may be reduced. In addition, incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on
indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders initiating foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the
property securing the loan that is in default, thus reducing the value of the Company. For tax purposes, a foreclosure
on any of our properties will be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the outstanding balance
of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax
basis in the property, we will recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but we would not receive any cash proceeds.
We may give full or partial guarantees to lenders of mortgage debt to the entities that own our properties. When we
give a guaranty on behalf of an entity that owns one of our properties, we will be responsible to the lender for
satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by such entity. If any mortgage contains cross collateralization or cross default
provisions, a default on a single property could affect multiple properties. If any of our properties are foreclosed upon
due to a default, our ability to pay cash distributions to our stockholders will be adversely affected.

Higher mortgage rates may make it more difficult for us to finance or refinance our mortgage loans, which could
reduce the number of properties we can acquire and the amount of cash distributions we can make to our stockholders.
As of December 31, 2013, we had $7.7 million of debt maturing in the year ending December 31, 2014. If mortgage
debt is unavailable on reasonable terms as a result of increased interest rates or other factors, we may not be able to
utilize financing in our initial purchase of properties. In addition, if we place or assume mortgage debt on properties,
we run the risk of being unable to refinance such debt when the loans mature, or of being unable to refinance the debt
on favorable terms or at all. If interest rates are higher when we refinance debt, our income could be reduced. We may
be unable to refinance debt at appropriate times, which may require us to sell properties on terms that are not
advantageous to us, or could result in the foreclosure of such properties. If any of these events occur, our cash flow
would be reduced. This, in turn, would reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders and may hinder our
ability to raise more capital by issuing securities or by borrowing more money.

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and, therefore, negatively impact our
operating results.

Interest we pay on our debt obligations reduces cash available for distributions. Whenever we incur variable rate debt,
increases in interest rates would increase our interest costs, which would reduce our cash flows and our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders. As of December 31, 2013, we had $539.9 million of variable rate debt
outstanding. If we need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, we could be required to liquidate
one or more of our investments in properties at times which may not permit realization of the maximum return on
such investments.

Covenants in the instruments governing our existing indebtedness limit our operational flexibility, and a covenant
breach could adversely affect our operations.

The terms of the instruments governing our existing indebtedness require us to comply with a number of customary
financial and other covenants. These provisions include, among other things: a limitation on the incurrence of
additional indebtedness; limitations on mergers, investments, acquisitions, redemptions of capital stock, and
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transactions with affiliates; and maintenance of specified financial ratios. Our continued ability to incur debt and
operate our business is subject to compliance with these covenants, which limit operational flexibility. Breaches of
these covenants could result in defaults under applicable debt instruments, even if payment obligations are satisfied.
Financial and other covenants that limit our operational flexibility, as well as defaults resulting from a breach of any
of these covenants in our debt instruments, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.

29

50



Edgar Filing: HEALTHCARE TRUST OF AMERICA, INC. - Form 10-K

Table of Contents

Adverse changes in our credit ratings could impair our ability to obtain additional debt and equity financing on
favorable terms, if at all, and negatively impact the market price of our securities, including our common stock.

The credit ratings of our senior unsecured debt are based on our operating performance, liquidity and leverage ratios,
overall financial position and other factors employed by the credit rating agencies in their rating analysis of us. Our
credit ratings can affect the amount and type of capital we can access, as well as the terms of any financings we may
obtain. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our current credit ratings and in the event that our
current credit ratings deteriorate, we would likely incur higher borrowing costs and it may be more difficult or
expensive to obtain additional financing or refinance existing obligations and commitments. Also, a downgrade in our
credit ratings would trigger additional costs or other potentially negative consequences under our current and future
credit facilities and debt instruments.

Risks Related to Joint Ventures

The terms of joint venture agreements or other joint ownership arrangements into which we have entered and may
enter could impair our operating flexibility and our results of operations.

In connection with the purchase of real estate, we have entered and may continue to enter into joint ventures with third
parties. We may also purchase or develop properties in co-ownership arrangements with the sellers of the properties,
developers or other persons. These structures involve participation in the investment by other parties whose interests
and rights may not be the same as ours. Our joint venture partners may have rights to take some actions over which we
have no control and may take actions contrary to our interests. Joint ownership of an investment in real estate may
involve risks not associated with direct ownership of real estate, including the following:

a venture partner may at any time have economic or other business interests or goals which become inconsistent with
our business interests or goals, including inconsistent goals relating to the sale of properties held in a joint venture or
the timing of the termination and liquidation of the venture;

a venture partner might become bankrupt and such proceedings could have an adverse impact on the operation of the
partnership or joint venture;

actions taken by a venture partner might have the result of subjecting the property to liabilities in excess of those
contemplated; and

a venture partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies
or objectives, including our policy with respect to qualifying and maintaining our qualification as a REIT.

Under certain joint venture arrangements, neither venture partner may have the power to control the venture and an
impasse could occur, which might adversely affect the joint venture and decrease potential returns to our stockholders.
If we have a right of first refusal or buy/sell right to buy out a venture partner, we may be unable to finance such a
buy-out or we may be forced to exercise those rights at a time when it would not otherwise be in our best interest to do
so. If our interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have sufficient cash, available borrowing capacity or other
capital resources to allow us to purchase an interest of a venture partner subject to the buy/sell right, in which case we
may be forced to sell our interest when we would otherwise prefer to retain our interest. In addition, we may not be
able to sell our interest in a joint venture on a timely basis or on acceptable terms if we desire to exit the venture for
any reason, particularly if our interest is subject to a right of first refusal of our venture partner.

We may structure our joint venture relationships in a manner which may limit the amount we participate in the cash
flow or appreciation of an investment.

We may enter into joint venture agreements, the economic terms of which may provide for the distribution of income
to us otherwise than in direct proportion to our ownership interest in the joint venture. For example, while we and a
co-venturer may invest an equal amount of capital in an investment, the investment may be structured such that we
have a right to priority distributions of cash flow up to a certain target return while the co-venturer may receive a
disproportionately greater share of cash flow than we are to receive once such target return has been achieved. This
type of investment structure may result in the co-venturer receiving more of the cash flow, including appreciation, of
an investment than we would receive. If we do not accurately judge the appreciation prospects of a particular
investment or structure the venture appropriately, we may incur losses on joint venture investments or have limited
participation in the profits of a joint venture investment, either of which could reduce our ability to make cash
distributions to our stockholders.
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Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes would subject us to federal income tax on our
taxable income at regular corporate rates, which would substantially reduce our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2007 and we believe that our current and intended manner of operation will enable us to continue to
meet the requirements to be taxed as a REIT. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet various requirements set forth in the
Code concerning, among other things, the ownership of our outstanding common stock, the nature of our assets, the
sources of our income and the amount of our distributions to our stockholders. The REIT qualification requirements
are extremely complex, and interpretations of the federal income tax laws governing qualification as a REIT are
limited. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that we will be successful in operating so as to qualify as a REIT. At any
time, new laws, interpretations or court decisions may change the federal tax laws relating to, or the federal income
tax consequences of, qualification as a REIT. It is possible that future economic, market, legal, tax or other
considerations may cause our Board of Directors to revoke our REIT election, which it may do without stockholder
approval.

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our
taxable income at corporate rates. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the
four taxable years following the year in which we lose our qualification as a REIT. Losing our qualification as a REIT
would reduce our net earnings available for investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax
liability. In addition, distributions to stockholders would no longer be deductible in computing our taxable income,
and we would no longer be required to make distributions. To the extent that distributions had been made in
anticipation of our qualifying as a REIT, we might be required to borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order
to pay the applicable corporate income tax.

As a result of all these factors, our failure to qualify as a REIT could impair our ability to expand our business and
raise capital, and would substantially reduce our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

To continue to qualify as a REIT and to avoid the payment of U.S. federal income and excise taxes, we may be forced
to borrow funds, use proceeds from the issuance of securities, or sell assets to pay distributions, which may result in
our distributing amounts that may otherwise be used for our operations.

To obtain the favorable tax treatment accorded to REITs, we normally will be required each year to distribute to our
stockholders at least 90.0% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends
paid and by excluding net capital gains. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed taxable
income and net capital gain and to a 4.0% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions we pay with
respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of: (a) 85.0% of our ordinary income; (b) 95.0% of our capital gain
net income; and (c) 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. These requirements could cause us to
distribute amounts that otherwise would be spent on acquisitions of properties and it is possible that we might be
required to borrow funds, use proceeds from the issuance of securities or sell assets in order to distribute enough of
our taxable income to maintain our qualification as a REIT and to avoid the payment of federal income and excise
taxes.

Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities.

To continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning,
among other things, the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts we distribute
to our stockholders and the ownership of shares of our common stock. We may be required to make distributions to
our stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution, or we may
be required to liquidate otherwise attractive investments in order to comply with the REIT tests. Thus, compliance
with the REIT requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.

If investors fail to meet the fiduciary and other standards under ERISA or the Code as a result of an investment in our
common stock, they could be subject to criminal and civil penalties.

We, and our stockholders that are employee benefit plans or individual retirement accounts, or IRAs, will be subject to
risks relating specifically to having employee benefit plans and IRAs as stockholders, which risks are discussed
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below. There are special considerations that apply to pension, profit-sharing trusts of IRAs investing in our common
stock. If investors are investing the assets of a pension, profit sharing or 401(k) plan, health or welfare plan, or an IRA
in us, they should consider:
whether the investment is consistent with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code, or any other
applicable governing authority in the case of a government plan;

Wwhether the investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing their plan or IRA,
including their plan’s investment policy;
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yvhether the investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and
404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA;
whether the investment will impair the liquidity of the plan or IRA;

whether the investment will produce unrelated business taxable income, referred to as UBTI and as defined in

Sections 511 through 514 of the Code, to the plan or IRA; and
their need to value the assets of the plan annually in accordance with ERISA and the Code.
In addition to considering their fiduciary responsibilities under ERISA and the prohibited transaction rules of ERISA
and the Code, trustees or others purchasing shares should consider the effect of the plan asset regulations of the
U.S. Department of Labor. To avoid our assets from being considered plan assets under those regulations, our charter
prohibits “benefit plan investors” from owning 25.0% or more of our common stock prior to the time that the common
stock qualifies as a class of publicly-offered securities, within the meaning of the ERISA plan asset regulations.
However, we cannot assure our stockholders that those provisions in our charter will be effective in limiting benefit
plan investor ownership to less than the 25.0% limit. For example, the limit could be unintentionally exceeded if a
benefit plan investor misrepresents its status as a benefit plan. Even if our assets are not considered to be plan assets, a
prohibited transaction could occur if we or any of our affiliates is a fiduciary (within the meaning of ERISA) with
respect to an employee benefit plan or IRA purchasing shares, and, therefore, in the event any such persons are
fiduciaries (within the meaning of ERISA) of a plan or IRA, investors should not purchase shares unless an
administrative or statutory exemption applies to the purchase.
Governmental plans, church plans, and foreign plans generally are not subject to ERISA or the prohibited transaction
rules of the Code, but may be subject to similar restrictions under other laws. A plan fiduciary making an investment
in our shares on behalf of such a plan should consider whether the investment is in accordance with applicable law
and governing plan documents.
To preserve our qualification as a REIT, our charter contains ownership limits with respect to our capital stock that
may delay, defer or prevent a change of control of HTA.
To assist us in preserving our qualification as a REIT, our charter contains a limitation on ownership that prohibits any
individual, entity or group from directly acquiring beneficial ownership of more than 9.8% of the value of HTA’s then
outstanding capital stock (which includes common stock and any preferred stock HTA may issue) or more than 9.8%
of the value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of HTA’s then outstanding common stock.
Any attempted transfer of HTA’s stock which, if effective, would result in HTA’s stock being beneficially owned by
fewer than 100 persons will be null and void. Any attempted transfer of HTA’s stock which, if effective, would result
in violation of the ownership limits discussed above or in HTA being “closely held” under Section 856(h) of the Code or
otherwise failing to qualify as a REIT, will cause the number of shares causing the violation (rounded up to the nearest
whole share) to be automatically transferred to a trust for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries,
and the proposed transferee will not acquire any rights in the shares.
The trustee of the trust will be empowered to sell the shares-in-trust to a qualified person selected by the trustee and to
distribute to the applicable prohibited owner an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the sales proceeds received by the
trust for such shares-in-trust or (2) (A) if the prohibited owner was a transferee for value, the price paid by the
prohibited owner for such shares-in-trust or (B) if the prohibited owner was not a transferee or was a transferee but did
not give value for the shares-in-trust, the market price on the day of the event causing the shares to be held in trust. In
addition, all shares-in-trust will be deemed to have been offered for sale to us or our designee, at a price per share
equal to the lesser of (1) the price per share in the transaction that created such shares-in-trust (or, in the case of a
devise, gift, or other event other than a transfer for value, the market price of such shares at the time of such devise,
gift, or other event) and (2) the market price on the date we, or our designee, accepts such offer. The trustee or we may
reduce the amount payable to the prohibited owner by the amount of dividends and other distributions that have been
paid to the prohibited owner and are owed by the prohibited owner to the trustee. Any amount received by the trustee
in excess of the amount to be paid to the prohibited owner will be distributed to the beneficiary of the trust.
These ownership limits could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control that might involve a
premium price for our common stock or might otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock

The price of our Class A common stock has and may continue to fluctuate, which may make it difficult for you to sell
our Class A common stock when you want or at prices you find attractive.

The price of our Class A common stock on the NYSE constantly changes and has been subject to price fluctuations.
We expect that the market price of our Class A common stock will continue to fluctuate. Our stock price can fluctuate
as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors may include:

actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly operating results;

changes in our earnings estimates or publication of research reports about us or the real estate industry, although no
assurance can be given that any research reports about us will be published;

future sales of substantial amounts of Class A common stock by our existing or future stockholders;

tncreases in market interest rates, which may lead purchasers of our stock to demand a higher yield;

changes in market valuations of similar companies;

adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we incur in the future;

additions or departures of key personnel;

actions by institutional stockholders;

speculation in the press or investment community; and

eeneral market and economic conditions.

In addition, the stock market in general may experience extreme volatility that may be unrelated to the operating
performance of a particular company. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our
Class A common stock.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would be senior to our common stock, or equity securities, which would
dilute our existing stockholders and may be senior to our common stock, may adversely affect the market price of our
common stock.

In the future, we may issue debt or equity securities, including medium term notes, senior or subordinated notes and
classes of preferred or common stock. Debt securities or shares of preferred stock will generally be entitled to receive
distributions, both current and in connection with any liquidation or sale, prior to the holders of our common stock.
Our Board of Directors may issue such securities without stockholder approval and under Maryland law may amend
our charter to increase the aggregate number of authorized shares of capital stock or the number of authorized shares
of capital stock of any class or series without stockholder approval. We are not required to offer any such additional
debt or equity securities to existing common stockholders on a preemptive basis. Therefore, offerings of common
stock or other equity securities may dilute the percentage ownership interest of our existing stockholders. To the
extent we issue additional equity interests, our stockholders' percentage ownership interest in us will be diluted.
Depending upon the terms and pricing of any additional offerings and the value of our real properties and other real
estate related assets, our stockholders may also experience dilution in both the book value and fair market value of
their shares. As a result, future offerings of debt or equity securities, or the perception that such offerings may occur,
may reduce the market price of our common stock and/or the distributions that we pay with respect to our common
stock.

Our distributions to stockholders may change, which could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
All distributions will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon our actual and projected
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, liquidity and funds from operations, maintenance of our REIT
qualification and such other matters as our Board of Directors may deem relevant from time to time. We may not be
able to make distributions in the future or may need to fund such distributions from external sources, as to which no
assurances can be given. In addition, we may choose to retain operating cash flow for investment purposes, working
capital reserves or other purposes, and these retained funds, although increasing the value of our underlying assets,
may not correspondingly increase the market price of our common stock. Our failure to meet the market's expectations
with regard to future cash distributions likely would adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
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The availability and timing of cash distributions to our stockholders is uncertain.

We bear all expenses incurred in our operations, which are deducted from cash funds generated by operations prior to
computing the amount of cash distributions to our stockholders. We are also restricted by the terms of our existing
debt instruments from paying distributions in excess of certain financial metrics. In addition, our Board of Directors,
in its discretion, may retain any portion of such funds for working capital. We cannot assure our stockholders that
sufficient cash will be available to make distributions or that the amount of distributions will increase over time. If we
fail for any reason to distribute at least 90% of our ordinary taxable income, we would not qualify for the favorable
tax treatment accorded to REITS.

We may not have sufficient cash available from operations to pay distributions and, therefore, distributions may
include a return of capital.

Distributions payable to stockholders may include a return of capital, rather than a return on capital. It is our present
intention to make quarterly distributions to our stockholders. However, the actual amount and timing of distributions
will be determined by our Board of Directors in its discretion and typically will depend on the amount of funds
available for distribution which will depend on items such as current and projected cash requirements and tax
considerations. As a result, our distribution rate and payment frequency may vary from time to time. We may not have
sufficient cash available from operations to pay distributions required to maintain our qualification as a REIT and may
need to use borrowed funds to make such cash distributions, which may reduce the amount of proceeds available for
investment and operations. Additionally, if the aggregate amount of cash distributed in any given year exceeds the
amount of our “REIT taxable income” generated during the year, the excess amount will be deemed a return of capital,
which will decrease our stockholders' tax basis in their investment in shares of our common stock. Our organizational
documents do not establish a limit on the amount of net proceeds we may use to fund distributions.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of our common stock.

One of the factors that may influence the price of our common stock will be the dividend distribution rate on our
common stock (as a percentage of the price of our common stock) relative to market interest rates. If market interest
rates rise, prospective purchasers of common stock may expect a higher distribution rate. Higher interest rates would
not, however, result in more funds being available for distribution and, in fact, would likely increase our borrowing
costs and might decrease our funds available for distribution. We therefore may not be able, or we may not choose, to
provide a higher distribution rate. As a result, prospective purchasers may decide to purchase other securities rather
than our common stock, which would reduce the demand for, and result in a decline in the market price of, our
common stock.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our common stock or
the healthcare property sector, the price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part upon the research and reports that industry or financial
analysts publish about us or our business. We have no control over these analysts. Furthermore, if one or more of the
analysts who do cover us downgrades our stock or our industry, or the stock of any of our competitors, the price of our
common stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company, we could lose
attention in the market, which in turn could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

Our Board of Directors could increase or decrease the number of authorized shares of stock and issue stock without
stockholder approval.

Our charter authorizes our Board of Directors, without stockholder approval, to amend the charter from time to time to
increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock or the number of authorized shares of stock of
any class or series, to issue shares of our common stock or preferred stock and to classify or reclassify any unissued
shares of our common stock or preferred stock into other classes or series and set the preferences, rights and other
terms of such classified or reclassified shares. Although our Board of Directors has no such intention at the present
time, it could establish a class or series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of such class or series,
delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control that might be in the best interest of stockholders.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties

We have invested $3.0 billion in high-quality medical office buildings and other facilities that serve the healthcare
industry through December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, our portfolio consisted of 269 medical office
buildings and 19 other facilities that serve the healthcare industry. Our portfolio is comprised of approximately 14.1
million square feet of GLA, with an occupancy rate of approximately 91.6%, including month-to-month leases and
leases we have executed, but which have not yet commenced. Approximately 96% of our portfolio, based on GLA, is
located on or aligned with campuses of nationally or regionally recognized healthcare systems. Our portfolio is
diversified geographically across 27 states, with no state having more than 13% of the total GLA as of December 31,
2013. All of our properties are 100% owned, except for one medical office building.

Our properties include medical office buildings, specialty inpatient facilities (long term acute care hospitals or
rehabilitation hospitals), and skilled nursing and assisted living facilities.

As of December 31, 2013, we owned fee simple interests in 199 of the 288 buildings comprising our portfolio. These
199 buildings represent approximately 65.3% of our total GLA. We hold long-term leasehold interests in the
remaining 89 buildings within our portfolio, which represent approximately 34.7% of our total GLA. As of December
31, 2013, these leasehold interests had an average remaining term of approximately 53.9 years.

The following information generally applies to our properties:

we believe all of our properties are adequately covered by insurance and are suitable for their intended purposes;

our properties are located in markets where we are subject to competition in attracting new tenants and retaining
current tenants; and

depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the buildings, up to 39 years, and
over the shorter of the lease term or useful lives of the tenant improvements.

Lease Expirations

The following table presents the sensitivity of our annualized base rent due to lease expirations for existing leases for
the next 10 years:

Number of Total GLA Percent of GLA . Percent of Total
o .. Annualized Base .

Expiration (1) Leases of Expiring Represented by Rent (2) (3) Annualized Base
Expiring Leases (2) Expiring Leases Rent

Month-to-month 107 181 1.4 % $3,353 1.2 %

2014 335 857 6.6 18,228 6.6

2015 279 955 7.4 21,673 7.9

2016 274 1,252 9.7 25,332 9.2

2017 287 1,249 9.7 25,570 9.3

2018 260 1,522 11.8 31,022 11.3

2019 126 855 6.6 20,348 7.4

2020 141 713 5.5 15,211 5.5

2021 131 1,240 9.6 24,147 8.8

2022 92 724 5.6 17,414 6.3

2023 43 639 5.0 11,847 4.3

Thereafter 146 2,716 21.1 60,345 22.2

Total 2,221 12,903 100.0 % $274,490 100.0 %

(1)Leases scheduled to expire on December 31 of a given year are included within that year in the table.
(2) Amounts in thousands.

3)
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Annualized base rent is calculated by multiplying contractual base rent as of December 31, 2013 by 12 (excluding
the impact of abatements, concessions, and straight-line rent).
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Geographic Diversification/Concentration Table
The following table lists the states in which our properties are located and provides certain information regarding our
portfolio’s geographic diversification/concentration as of December 31, 2013:

Number of Annualized Percent of
State s GLA (1) Percent of GLA Base Rent (1) Annualized Base
Buildings

2) Rent
Arizona 45 1,366 9.7 % $26,013 9.5 %
California 5 284 2.0 4,926 1.8
Colorado 4 260 1.9 5,789 2.1
Florida 32 1,699 12.1 34,351 12.5
Georgia 14 669 4.8 13,929 5.1
Illinois 1 139 1.0 4,487 1.6
Indiana 45 1,270 9.0 18,199 6.6
Kansas 1 64 0.4 1,662 0.6
Maryland 2 163 1.2 3,445 1.2
Massachusetts 13 406 2.9 8,522 3.1
Michigan 1 203 1.4 4,848 1.8
Minnesota 2 158 1.1 1,636 0.6
Missouri 5 296 2.1 7,335 2.7
Nevada 1 73 0.5 1,594 0.6
New Hampshire 1 72 0.5 1,259 0.5
New Mexico 2 54 0.4 1,325 0.5
New York 8 909 6.5 17,245 6.3
North Carolina 10 245 1.7 4,518 1.6
Ohio 13 526 3.7 6,057 2.2
Oklahoma 2 186 1.3 3,717 1.3
Pennsylvania 6 1,204 8.6 21,580 7.9
South Carolina 22 1,103 7.8 20,473 7.5
Tennessee 11 441 3.1 7,994 2.9
Texas 32 1,800 12.8 44,397 16.2
Utah 1 112 0.8 1,919 0.7
Virginia 3 63 0.5 586 0.2
Wisconsin 6 315 2.2 6,684 2.4
Total 288 14,080 100.0 % $274,490 100.0 %

(1) Amounts in thousands.
@) Annualized base rent is calculated by multiplying contractual base rent as of December 31, 2013 by 12 (excluding
the impact of abatements, concessions, and straight-line rent).

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe any liability from
any reasonably foreseeable disposition of such claims and litigation, individually or in the aggregate, would have a
material adverse effect on our accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

On June 6, 2012, HTA listed its Class A common stock, par value $0.01, on the NYSE. In accordance with an
amendment to HTA’s charter approved by its stockholders, all of HTA’s common stock was converted into Class A,
Class B-1, Class B-2 and Class B-3 common stock. The Class B common stock was identical to the Class A common
stock except that the Class B common stock was not listed on a national securities exchange. The shares of the Class
B-1, Class B-2 and Class B-3 common stock converted into shares of our Class A common stock on December 6,
2012, June 6, 2013, and November 7, 2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2013, there were no shares of Class B
common stock outstanding.

The following table sets forth for the periods subsequent to HTA’s listing, the high and low sales prices of its Class A
common stock as reported on the NYSE.

High Low
Second Quarter 2012 $10.05 $9.75
Third Quarter 2012 10.21 9.07
Fourth Quarter 2012 11.68 9.61
First Quarter 2013 12.21 9.90
Second Quarter 2013 13.34 10.80
Third Quarter 2013 11.40 9.93
Fourth Quarter 2013 11.75 9.71

There is no established market for trading HTALP’s common units.

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative returns of HTA, MSCI US REIT (RMS) Index, SNL US REIT Healthcare
Index and the S&P 500 Index from the date of our listing on the NYSE on June 6, 2012 through December 31, 2013.
The total returns assume dividends are reinvested.

Stockholders

As of February 19, 2014, HTA had approximately 4,250 stockholders of record.
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Dividends
The following were the dividends declared per share by HTA:

2013 2012
First Quarter $0.143750 $0.180753
Second Quarter 0.143750 0.169064
Third Quarter 0.143750 0.143750
Fourth Quarter 0.143750 0.143750
Total $0.575000 $0.637317

The dividend HTA pays to its stockholders is equal to the distributions received from HTALP according to the terms
of HTALP’s partnership agreement. Therefore, the distribution amounts for HTALP are the same as the dividend
amounts above for HTA.

On February 17, 2014, HTA’s Board of Directors authorized a quarterly cash dividend of $0.14375 per share to be paid
on April 3, 2014 to stockholders of record on March 27, 2014.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

During the three months ended December 31, 2013, HTA repurchased shares of its common stock as follows:

Total Number of Max1mgm
Shares Purchased Approximate
Total Number of Average Price as Part of Dollar Value of
Period Shares Purchased (1) Paid per Share (1) . Shares that May
Publicly
) 2) Yet be Purchased
Announced
Under the Plans
Plan or Program
or Programs
October 1, 2013 to October 31, 2013 — $— — € )
November 1, 2013 to November 30, o . L 3 )
2013
December 1, 2013 to December 31, 23475 9.99 . 3 )
2013
(I)Purchases represent shares withheld to satisfy withholding obligations on the vesting of restricted shares. The price

paid per share was the then closing price of our Class A common stock on the NYSE.

For each share of common stock redeemed by HTA, HTALP redeems a corresponding number of units in the
(2)operating partnership. Therefore, the units in the operating partnership repurchased by HTALP are the same as the
shares of common stock repurchased by HTA above.

On August 6, 2012, HTA’s Board of Directors approved a stock repurchase program of up to $100.0 million of its
Class A common stock from time to time prior to August 5, 2014. There have been no repurchases under the
program and $100.0 million of repurchase capacity remains available under the program. Share repurchases will be
made at the sole discretion of HTA’s Board of Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The Amended and Restated 2006 Incentive Plan authorizes the granting of awards in any of the following forms:
options; stock appreciation rights; restricted stock; restricted or deferred stock units; performance awards; dividend
equivalents; other stock-based awards, including units in operating partnership; and cash-based awards. Subject to
adjustment as provided in the Amended and Restated 2006 Incentive Plan, the aggregate number of shares of our
common stock reserved and available for issuance pursuant to awards granted under the Amended and Restated 2006
Incentive Plan is 10,000,000.

3)

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following should be read with Item 1A Risk Factors, Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto, as
acquisitions, changes in accounting policies and other items impact the comparability of our financial data. Our
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Healthcare Trust of America, Inc.

As of December 31,
(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011 2010
Balance Sheet Data:
Real estate investments, net $2,526,991 $2,231,530 $2,038,339 $2,057,814
Total assets 2,752,334 2,414,090 2,291,629 2,271,795
Debt, net 1,214,241 1,037,359 639,149 706,526
Total equity 1,399,749 1,264,595 1,567,340 1,487,246

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012 2011 2010
Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues $319,899 $297,380 $272,177 $200,665
Rental expenses 97,053 95,046 88,483 65,307
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to 23.154 (24992 ) 5.121 8092 )
common stockholders
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 24,261 (24,424 ) 5,541 (7,903 )
Income (loss) from continuing operat.ions attributable to 010 .11 0.02 (0.05 )
common stockholders per share - basic
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to
common stockholders per share - diluted 0.10 ©.11 0.02 ©.05 )
Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Cash flows provided by operating activities $147,824 $116,785 $111,807 $58,503
Cash flows used in investing activities (374,700 ) (283,545 ) (65,958 ) (626,849 )
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 229,001 113,225 (5,628 378,615
Other Data:
Dividends declared to stockholders $132,680 $142,044 $162,597 $120,507
Dividends declared per share 0.58 0.64 0.73 0.73
Dividends paid in cash to stockholders 129,360 93,273 84,800 60,176
Dividends reinvested — 31,916 75,864 56,551
FFO (1) 145,908 91,994 113,083 70,658
Normalized FFO (1) 147,834 135,262 116,378 84,407
NOI (2) 224,285 204,337 185,678 137,419

2009

$1,319,976
1,673,535
540,028
1,071,317

2009

$127,053
44,616

(24,918 )
(25,077 )
022 )

022 )

$21,628
(455,105)
524,147

$82,221
0.73
39,500
38,559
28,518
42,412
84,462

For additional information on FFO and Normalized FFO, see “Funds from Operations (FFO) and Normalized FFO”
(1)in Item 7, which includes a reconciliation to net income or loss attributable to common stockholders and an

explanation of why we present these non-GAAP financial measure.

For additional information on NOI, see “Net Operating Income (NOI), Adjusted NOI and Same-Property Adjusted
(2)NOI” in Item 7, which includes a reconciliation to net income or loss and an explanation of why we present these

non-GAAP financial measure.
Healthcare Trust of America Holdings, LP

As of December 31,
(In thousands) 2013 2012 2011
Balance Sheet Data:
Real estate investments, net $2,526,991 $2,231,530 $2,038,339
Total assets 2,752,334 2,414,090 2,291,629
Debt, net 1,214,241 1,037,359 639,149
Total partners’ capital 1,401,294 1,266,199 1,568,927

39

2010

$2,057,814
2,271,795
706,526
1,488,811

2009

$1,319,976
1,673,535
540,028
1,071,513
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Year Ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per unit data) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues $319,899 $297,380 $272,177 $200,665 $127,053
Rental expenses 97,053 95,046 88,483 65,307 44,616

Income (los§) from continuing operations attributable to 23.526 (24976 ) 5.143 8083 ) (24918 )
common unitholders

Net income (loss) attributable to common unitholders 24,633 (24,408 ) 5,563 (7,894 ) (25,077 )
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to

common unitholders per unit - basic 0.10 ©.11 ) 002 ©.05 ) 0.22 )
Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to

common unitholders per unit - diluted 0.10 ©.11 ) 002 ©.05 ) 0.22 )
Statement of Cash Flows Data:

Cash flows provided by operating activities $147,824 $116,785 $111,807 $58,503 $21,628
Cash flows used in investing activities (374,700 ) (283,545 ) (65,958 ) (626,849 ) (455,105)

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 229,001 113,225 (5,628 ) 378,615 524,147
Other Data:

Distributions declared to general partner $132,680 $141,944 $162,483 $120,451 $82,221
Distributions declared per unit 0.58 0.64 0.73 0.73 0.73
Distributions paid in cash to general partner 129,360 93,273 84,800 60,176 39,500
Distributions reinvested — 31,916 75,864 56,551 38,559
FFO (1) 146,280 92,010 113,105 70,667 28,518
Normalized FFO (1) 147,835 135,262 116,378 84,416 42,412
NOI (2) 224,285 204,337 185,678 137,419 84,462

For additional information on FFO and Normalized FFO, see “Funds from Operations (FFO) and Normalized FFO”
(1)in Item 7, which includes a reconciliation to net income or loss attributable to common unitholders and an

explanation of why we present these non-GAAP financial measure.

For additional information on NOI, see “Net Operating Income (NOI), Adjusted NOI and Same-Property Adjusted
(2)NOI” in Item 7, which includes a reconciliation to net income or loss and an explanation of why we present these

non-GAAP financial measure.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The use of the words “we,” “us” or “our” refers to Healthcare Trust of America, Inc., or HTA, and Healthcare Trust of
America Holdings, LP, or HTALP, collectively.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such consolidated financial statements and information
have been prepared to reflect HTA’s and HTALP’s financial position as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, together with
results of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011. The information set forth
is intended to provide readers with an understanding of our financial condition, changes in financial condition and
results of operations.

¥orward-Looking Statements;

Executive Summary;

Company Highlights;

Critical Accounting Policies;

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncements;

Factors Which May Influence Results of Operations;

Results of Operations;

Non-GAAP Financial Measures;
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{iquidity and Capital Resources;

Commitments and Contingencies;

Debt Service Requirements;

Contractual Obligations;

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements; and

{nflation.

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K constitute forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the safe harbor from civil liability provided for such statements by the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 (set forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act). Such statements include, in particular,
statements about our plans, strategies and prospects and estimates regarding future medical office building market
performance. Additionally, such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, as well as known and
unknown risks, which could cause actual results to differ materially and in adverse ways from those projected or
anticipated. Therefore, such statements are not intended to be a guarantee of our performance in future periods.
Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by the use of such terms as “expect,” “project,” “may,” “should,” “could
“would,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “opinion,” “predict,” “potential,” “pro forma” or the
such terms and other comparable terminology. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date this Annual Report on Form 10-K is filed with the SEC.
We cannot guarantee the accuracy of any such forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form
10-K, and we do not intend to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law.

Any such forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events, are subject to unknown risks,
uncertainties, and other factors, and are based on a number of assumptions involving judgments with respect to,
among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions, all of which are difficult or impossible to
predict accurately. To the extent that our assumptions differ from actual results, our ability to meet such
forward-looking statements, including our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations, provide dividends to
stockholders, and maintain the value of our real estate properties, may be significantly hindered. Factors that might
impair our ability to meet such forward-looking statements include, without limitation, those discussed in Part I,

Item 1A “Risk Factors” are included herein and other filings with the SEC.

Forward-looking statements express expectations of future events. All forward-looking statements are inherently
uncertain as they are based on various expectations and assumptions concerning future events and they are subject to
numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially
from those projected. Due to these inherent uncertainties, our stockholders are urged not to place undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made. In addition, we undertake no
obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect changed assumptions, the occurrence of
unanticipated events or changes to projections over time, except as required by law.

These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating forward-looking statements and undue reliance
should not be placed on such statements. Additional information concerning us and our business, including additional
factors that could materially affect our financial results, is included herein and in our other filings with the SEC.
Executive Summary

HTA is a fully integrated, self-administered and internally managed REIT and conducts substantially all of its
operations through HTALP. HTA is one of the largest publicly-traded REITs focused on medical office buildings in
the United States based on GLA. We are primarily focused on acquiring, owning and operating high-quality medical
office buildings that are predominantly located on, or aligned with, campuses of nationally or regionally recognized
healthcare systems. In addition, we have strong industry relationships, a stable and diversified tenant mix, and an
extensive and active acquisition network. Our primary objective is to maximize stockholder value with disciplined
growth through strategic investments and to provide an attractive risk-adjusted return for our stockholders by
consistently increasing our cash flow. In pursuing this objective, we (i) target mid-sized acquisitions of high-quality
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